

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com





Physics of Life Reviews 6 (2009) 144-175

www.elsevier.com/locate/plrev

Complexity analysis and mathematical tools towards the modelling of living systems *

Review

N. Bellomo, C. Bianca, M. Delitala*

Department of Mathematics, Politecnico, Turin, Italy

Received 13 May 2009; received in revised form 22 June 2009; accepted 22 June 2009

Available online 15 July 2009

Communicated by J. Fontanari

Abstract

This paper is a review and critical analysis of the mathematical kinetic theory of active particles applied to the modelling of large living systems made up of interacting entities. The first part of the paper is focused on a general presentation of the mathematical tools of the kinetic theory of active particles. The second part provides a review of a variety of mathematical models in life sciences, namely complex social systems, opinion formation, evolution of epidemics with virus mutations, and vehicular traffic, crowds and swarms. All the applications are technically related to the mathematical structures reviewed in the first part of the paper. The overall contents are based on the concept that living systems, unlike the inert matter, have the ability to develop behaviour geared towards their survival, or simply to improve the quality of their life. In some cases, the behaviour evolves in time and generates destructive and/or proliferative events.

© 2009 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

PACS: 02.30.Jr; 02.50.Cw; 05.20.Dd; 05.60.+w; 02.60.Nm

Keywords: Kinetic theory; Stochastic games; Evolution; Mutations; Active particles

Contents

1.	Motivations and plan of the paper	145
2.	Functional subsystems, scaling, and representations	147
3.	Mathematical tools for homogeneous activity distribution	151
4.	Mathematical tools for heterogeneous activity systems	155
5.	Some reasoning on the modelling approach	158
6.	Modelling complex systems in space homogeneity	159
	6.1. On the complexity of social systems and opinion formation	160

Corresponding author.

E-mail addresses: nicola.bellomo@polito.it (N. Bellomo), carlo.bianca@polito.it (C. Bianca), marcello.delitala@polito.it (M. Delitala).

 $^{^{*}}$ Partially supported by the European Union FP7 Health Research Grant number FP7-HEALTH-F4-2008-202047 and by the FIRB project – RBID08PP3J, Metodi matematici e relativi strumenti per la modellizzazione e la simulazione della formazione di tumori, competizione con il sistema immunitario, e conseguenti suggerimenti terapeutici.

	6.2.	On the modelling of epidemics with virus mutations	162
	6.3.	Critical analysis	164
7.	Model	ling complex system in space heterogeneity	164
	7.1.	On the modelling of vehicular traffic	165
	7.2.	Some reasonings about crowds modelling	167
	7.3.	Can mathematics deal with the modelling of the beautiful shapes of swarms?	169
8.	Looki	ng forward	170
	8.1.	Common features of complex systems focused on mathematical structures	171
	8.2.	Multiscale aspects and interactions	172
	8.3.	Perspectives	172
Refer	ences .		173

1. Motivations and plan of the paper

The kinetic theory of active particles, hereafter sometimes abbreviated as KTAP, is a mathematical method that has been developed to model the dynamics of large living systems. The theory applies to complex systems constituted by living entities interacting in space or along networks; normally, the knowledge of the dynamics of a few entities does not straightforwardly lead to a description of the dynamics of the overall system.

In details, this mathematical theory can be applied to systems characterized by the following common features:

- (i) The system is constituted by a large number of interacting entities, called *active particles*, whose microscopic state, in addition to geometrical and mechanical variables, also includes an additional variable, called *activity*, which represents the individual ability to express a specific strategy. Living systems have the ability to develop behaviour that cannot only be explained by the classical mechanics laws, and, in some cases, can generate proliferative and/or destructive processes. Such behaviour is not simply an individual and isolated expression, but generally depends on interaction with all the other individuals.
- (ii) The activity variable is heterogeneously distributed over the active particles, while the overall state of the system is described by a probability distribution function over the microscopic state of the particles. Interactions modify the state of the interacting entities, while the strategy they express may can be modified by the shape of their heterogeneous distribution.
- (iii) Interactions occur not only through contact, but can also be distributed in space as well as along networks. Generally, living systems communicate with each other either directly or through media. As a consequence each entity interacts with all the other entities that are in a domain where they are able to communicate with each other. In some cases, such a domain is identified by the visibility zone, while in other cases by a communication network.

At present, we simply recall that the theory has been profitably applied to model complex systems such as the onset of cancer and competition with the immune system [27–29], traffic flow [51,60], social systems [31,32], psychological interactions [19,42], politics [92,93].

The books [30] and [13] provide useful references, where specific applications, i.e. immune competition, social systems, vehicular and crowd dynamics, are reported together with various refinements of the mathematical tools.

Moreover, the idea of using a two scale approach [20,21,44,45], has been proposed in order to consider the multi-scale aspects, which are an inner feature of several complex systems.

This paper is divided into two parts, the first one is focused on the mathematical tools of the kinetic theory of active particles, while the second part provides a review of a variety of applications in life sciences, namely developments of system biology towards modelling epidemics on complex networks, modelling complex social systems, traffic, crowds and swarms. The contents are not limited to a survey of existing results. Several indications concerning research perspectives are given in both parts, focused on the methodology and applications, respectively. The paper is organized in seven more sections.

- Section 2 deals with some conceptual aspects that are preliminary to the derivation of the mathematical tools. The first aspect is the decomposition of the overall system, in order to reduce its complexity, into functional subsystems by a suitable development of the theory of functional modules by Hartwell [73] revisited in the field of biological sciences [27], and in the field of behavioural economy [3,4]. This decomposition involves the analysis of scaling problems.
- Section 3 deals with the derivation of mathematical tools for systems with homogeneously distributed activity variable. The first step consists in the modelling of interactions at the individual level of active particles, where the output of the interaction is determined by stochastic games. Subsequently, a mathematical framework is derived, using the modelling of microscopic interactions, by a suitable balance equation in the elementary space of the microscopic states. Such a framework can act as a paradigm for the derivation of specific models.
- Section 4 develops the same analysis in the case of systems with heterogeneously distributed activity. Again, the final objective consists in the derivation of suitable frameworks, which act as background paradigm for the derivation of specific models.
- Section 5 proposes a bridge between the mathematical structures described in the preceding sections and the various applications treated in the subsequent ones. Various aspects of the general modelling approach are critically analyzed and conceivable applications are examined. This section can be regarded as a methodological introduction to the applications developed in the subsequent sections.
- Section 6 deals with modelling and perspective ideas on applications of the theory to the modelling of complex systems where the velocity variable has no relevant physical meaning in the assessment of the state of the interacting particles. Specifically, this section deals with two applications. The first one is focused on social systems within a framework and specifically on opinion formation. The second application has the aim of at showing how a mathematical interpretation of systems biology can be properly developed to model the evolution of epidemics with virus mutations. This section also outlines some perspective ideas concerning interactions within complex networks.
- Section 7 deals with the modelling of systems where the space and the velocity variables have a relevant physical meaning in the assessment of the state of the interacting particles. The applications are focused on crowds, and swarms. A critical analysis of the existing literature on the modelling of traffic shows how the approach can be properly developed to model animal flocks. This topic represents a fascinating frontier for applied mathematics. The literature in the field is quite limited, while this section provides various hints on modelling. In fact, this section, unlike the previous ones, is mainly focused on research perspectives rather than on a detailed review of existing results.
- Section 8 proposes a critical analysis, which also takes advantage of the models presented in the preceding sections, of various common features of complex systems. It deals with the ability of the mathematical tools to take into account these features, while research perspectives are indicated looking at a *mathematical theory for complex living systems*. This challenging objective means that such a theory should be valid not only for specific systems but also for a broader variety of systems. Particularly important is the use of multiscale methods to link the different scales that characterize the system which is object of modelling.

It is worth stressing that the mathematical kinetic theory of active particles cannot be regarded as a straightforward generalization of the classical kinetic theory, because of the different way of decomposing the system and modelling interactions. However, under suitable simplification and *ad hoc* assumptions, it can be shown, see paper [7], that the classical model of the kinetic theory [97] can be viewed as a particular case of the theory developed in this paper. This paper is focused on the modelling of living systems, however suitable developments of KTAP's methods can be applied also to model large systems of interacting particles such as mixtures [63], suspensions with continuous particle size distribution [41].

On the other hand, some connections can be identified with methods that apply agent methods related to the derivation of master equations [8,103]. Many results obtained by physicists now have a rigorous background, among others Talagrand [105]. However, the equilibrium and dynamical properties of such systems are far from being fully understood from a mathematical point of view.

2. Functional subsystems, scaling, and representations

This section deals with some preliminary aspects that are needed for the mathematical formalization, which will be the subject of the next two sections. We refer to a large system of interacting entities that can be precisely defined borrowing from [13] the following definitions:

• The interacting entities are called *active particles*, and are characterized by mechanical variables, and also by a suitable *function* that they express. This function is called *activity*.

Living systems, particularly in biology (e.g. multicellular systems), are constituted by different types of active particles, therefore several different functions are expressed. The activity variable and its distribution play a relevant role in determining the output of interactions. Generally, the activity variable is heterogeneously distributed among particles, which have the ability to express the same function with different intensities. The same reasonings can be extended to crowds and swarms, where interacting individuals organize their strategy according to heterogeneously distributed personal abilities.

This is a relevant source of complexity. Furthermore, living systems, unlike most inert matter systems are characterized by the presence of a variety of components. In some cases, this number can be so large that the complexity of the analytical and computational methods developed for modelling cannot be effectively applied. Therefore, it is useful to reduce it by decomposing the system into suitable functional subsystems following well defined rules. According to some conceptual ideas proposed in the field of behavioural economy [3,4], the following definition can be given:

• A *functional subsystem* is a collection of active particles, which have the ability to express the same *activity*, which is regarded as a scalar variable. The whole system is constituted by several interacting functional subsystems.

Generally, the link between a functional subsystem and its activity also depends on the specific phenomena that has to be analyzed. Therefore, the decomposition into functional subsystems is a flexible approach that can be adapted to each particular investigation. Moreover, considering that the various subsystems are linked in networks, the modelling approach also needs to deal also with their interactions.

The modular approach by Hartwell [73] already allows complexity to be reduced by decomposing biological systems into several interacting subsystems. In fact, this approach can possibly be considered the first fundamental contribution to system biology [113]. Hartwell's theory has been re-visited in paper [27] which focused on multicellular systems described by the kinetic theory of active particles [30]. Hartwell's modules are identified by cell populations, that have the ability to express a certain behaviour collectively, which is the same in each module and has to be identified by a scalar variable.

It is worth stressing, with reference to [3], see also paper [27], that the decomposition method can be regarded as a tool to reduce complexity. In fact, active particles in each module, which is regarded as a functional subsystem, are not of the same type, while they express the same strategy collectively. Therefore, the modelling approach needs to assess a certain number of activities, while the functional subsystems correspond to each of these activities.

Generally, complex systems are constituted by interacting components distributed in space, in some cases constrained along networks. Each component is constituted by several interacting entities. This aspect generates remarkable difficulties in the modelling approach: among others, the need to describe the interactions that involve the various components. The scale (microscopic or macroscopic) suitable to describe each component may not be the same for all of them.

This topic can be clarified by giving a definition of representation scales. In fact, systems of real world are generally constituted by several interacting elements. This implies that mathematical models need to be designed at their typical observation and representation scales.

The *microscopic scale* corresponds to modelling the evolution of the variable that is suitable to describe the physical state of each single element. An alternative to the above approach can be developed when the system is constituted by a large number of elements and it is possible to obtain suitable locally in space averages of their state in an elementary space volume ideally tending to zero. In this case, the modelling refers to the *macroscopic scale*, namely to the evolution of locally averaged quantities, called *macroscopic variables*.

The above two scales are generally sufficient to model the evolution of inert matter systems. On the other hand, living systems need the addition of models derived at lower scales. For instance, the microscopic scale in biology corresponds to cells, while the dynamics of cells depends on the dynamics at the lower *molecular scale*, namely the scale of genes. In some cases, the complexity of the system induces the use of even a larger scale, the *super-macroscopic* scale, which corresponds to population dynamics [9,98,112], that, in simpler cases, does not include an internal structure.

The above scaling corresponds to different classes of equations. Generally, models designed at the microscopic scale are stated in terms of ordinary differential equations, while models at the macroscopic scale are generally stated in terms of partial differential equations. The modelling is developed within the framework of deterministic causality principles unless some external noise is added. This means that once a cause is given, the effect is deterministically identified.

The motivations to use the macroscopic scale instead of the microscopic one are also related to the practical objective of reducing complexity. For instance, when systems involve a large number of interacting elements, the number of equations of the model may be too large to be computationally tractable. Moreover, macroscopic quantities are often of practical interest; therefore, it is convenient to deal with equations involving these variables directly.

The approach of the *kinetic theory of active particles* [13] is completely different; the microscopic scale is used to model the interactive dynamics among active particles, while the overall state of the whole system is described by the probability distribution over the microscopic state. The microscopic state also includes non-mechanical variables, called *activity*.

Jager and Segel [91] published the first paper to introduce the concept of activity variable in the microscopic state of living entities. Their aim was to model the social dynamics of populations of insects on the basis of the empirical data suggested by Hogeweg and Hesper [83]. Subsequently, these models were generalized to the modelling of immune competition [26] and to various fields of applied sciences [6].

In short, the following issues need to be carefully treated in the modelling approach:

- Two scales are, in some cases, necessary to derive models in a functional subsystem, for instance models at microscopic and sub-microscopic scale. The interaction between the models at different scales needs to be transferred to the higher scale since the information comes from the lower scale.
- The various models in a network correspond, in some cases, to different scales. Therefore, it is necessary to derive
 models at the higher scale from the corresponding description delivered at the lower scale.
- Multiscale interactions can also occur between the sub-microscopic and macroscopic scales, within the same functional subsystem, as documented in paper [44].

The above issues are well known in biology, see for instance the two-scale representation for multicellular systems [21], as well as the derivation of macroscopic equations from the underlying description at the microscopic level [2, 14,15,56,64,67,69].

The difficulty of dealing with mathematical aspects in life sciences has been well documented in the paper by May [94], Hartwell et al. [73], Herrero [81], Reed [102]. This is due to the lack of paradigms and conservation laws, which characterize most inert matter systems. An additional problem, as already mentioned, is the multiscale essence of all living systems.

Finally, it is worth stressing that the above reasonings are focused on, but not limited, to living systems, considering that the lower scale also plays a relevant role in the case of inert matter. For instance, in the case of classical particles, the *interaction potential* modelling the exchange of forces between a pair of particles depends on their inner structure, which, however, is assumed to be constant in time.

Let us now consider, after the above preliminary reasonings, the mathematical representation of a large system constituted by active particles belonging to different functional subsystems. The physical microscopic state of the particles is identified by a variable that is suitable to describe their state, while the overall state of the whole system is described by a probability distribution over the microscopic state of the particles.

Some definitions are given in view of the mathematical treatment developed in the next sections.

- The physical variable charged to describe the state of each active particle is called *microscopic state*, and is constituted by the *geometrical microscopic state*, the *mechanical microscopic state*, and the *activity*, which may have a different meaning for each particular system.
- The space of the states of the active particles is called *microscopic state space*. When the active particles are points of the Euclidean space, the position **x** of each active particle is the geometrical microscopic state, while the mechanical microscopic state is the velocity **v**.
- The description of the overall state of the functional subsystem is defined by the distribution function f_i , which in the case of representation by points, is as follows

$$f_i = f_i(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}, u), \quad [0, T] \times D_{\mathbf{x}} \times D_{\mathbf{v}} \times D_u \to \mathbb{R}^+ = [0, +\infty[,$$
(1)

where i = 1, ..., n identifies the specific subsystem. The function f_i is called *generalized distribution function* and is such that $f_i(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}, u) d\mathbf{x} d\mathbf{v} du$ denotes the number of active particles whose state, at time t, is in the elementary volume of the space of microscopic states for each subsystem. The whole domain of the microscopic states is defined by $D_{\mathbf{x}} \times D_{\mathbf{v}} \times D_{u}$.

The following particular case can be considered:

- (i) If the number of active particles is constant in time, then the distribution function can be normalized with respect to such a number and consequently is a probability density.
- (ii) If the distribution over the activity variable is constant in time, namely it is not modified by interactions, f_i can be written as follows:

$$f_i = f_i(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}) P_i(u), \tag{2}$$

where P_i is a probability density over the state u. As a particular case, if the activity is the same for all particles $(u = u_0)$ of a subsystem, using Dirac's notation of the delta function, one has:

$$f_i = f_i(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v})\delta(u - u_0). \tag{3}$$

If the number of particles is constant in time, the distribution function can be normalized with respect to such a number and acquire the structure of a probability density. Moreover, it can be technically shown how the knowledge of the distribution function (or probability density) (1) leads, under suitable integrability conditions, to the calculations of macroscopic quantities for each subsystem. In what follows we refer, for simplicity of notations, to the relatively simpler case (1), while generalizations to enlarged definitions of the microscopic state are simply matter of analogous calculations. In details, if $\mathbf{f} = \{f_i\}_{1}^{n}$ is known, macroscopic gross variables can be computed, under obvious integrability properties, as moments weighted by the above distribution function. In particular, the *local size* of the *i*th functional subsystem is given by:

$$\nu[f_i](t, \mathbf{x}) = \int_{D_{\mathbf{v}} \times D_u} f_i(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}, u) \, d\mathbf{v} \, du.$$
(4)

The local initial size of the *i*th functional subsystem, at t = 0, is denoted by n_{i0} , while the local size for all functional subsystem is denoted by n_0 , and is given by

$$n_0[\mathbf{f}_0](\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{i=1}^n n_{i0}(\mathbf{x}),$$
(5)

where $\mathbf{f}_0 = \mathbf{f}(t = 0, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}, u)$ denotes the initial distribution for the set of all subsystems.

The integration over D_x gives the *total size* of the *i*th subsystem:

$$N_i(t) = \int_{D_{\mathbf{x}}} v_i(t, \mathbf{x}) \, d\mathbf{x},\tag{6}$$

which can depend on time due to the role of proliferative or destructive interactions, as well as to the flux of particles through the boundaries of the volume. The *total size* N = N(t) of all subsystems is given by the sum of all N_i .

It is worth stressing, in view of the applications dealt with in Section 7, that active particles have a dimension, therefore a maximal packing density v_M can be defined corresponding to full contact of all particles. Local density and all distribution functions can be normalized with respect to such a density. In particular, a dimensionless density ρ can be defined as follows:

$$\rho_i(t, \mathbf{x}) = \frac{\nu[f_i](t, \mathbf{x})}{\nu_M}.$$
(7)

Marginal densities refer either to the generalized distribution over the mechanical state

$$f_i^m(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}) = \int_{D_u} f_i(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}, u) \, du, \tag{8}$$

or to generalized distribution over the microscopic activity:

$$f_i^a(t,u) = \int\limits_{D_{\mathbf{x}} \times D_{\mathbf{v}}} f_i(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}, u) \, d\mathbf{x} \, d\mathbf{v}.$$
⁽⁹⁾

First order moments provide either *linear mechanical macroscopic* quantities or *linear activity macroscopic* quantities. For instance, the mass velocity of particles, at the time t in the position \mathbf{x} , is defined by

$$\mathbf{U}[f_i](t,\mathbf{x}) = \frac{1}{\nu[f_i](t,\mathbf{x})} \int_{D_{\mathbf{v}} \times D_u} \mathbf{v} f_i(t,\mathbf{x},\mathbf{v},u) \, d\mathbf{v} \, du.$$
(10)

Focusing on activity terms, linear moments related to each *i*th component of the system are computed as follows:

$$a_j[f_i](t, \mathbf{x}) = \int_{D_{\mathbf{v}} \times D_u} u_j f_i(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}, u) \, d\mathbf{v} \, du, \tag{11}$$

while the local activation density is given by

$$a_j^d[f_i](t, \mathbf{x}) = \frac{a_j[f_i](t, \mathbf{x})}{\nu[f_i](t, \mathbf{x})} = \frac{1}{\nu[f_i](t, \mathbf{x})} \int_{D_{\mathbf{v}} \times D_u} u_j f_i(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}, u) \, d\mathbf{v} \, du.$$
(12)

Global quantities are obtained integrating over space. A different interpretation can be given for each of the above quantities. Large values of $a_j[f_i]$ may be due to large number of particles with relatively small values of the activity, but also to small number of particles with relatively large values of the activity, while $a_j^d[f_i]$ allows to identify the size of the mean value of the activation.

Similar calculations can be developed for higher order moments if motivated by some interest for the applications. For instance, *local quadratic activity* can be computed as second order moments:

$$e[f_i](t, \mathbf{x}) = \int_{D_{\mathbf{v}} \times D_u} u^2 f_i(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}, u) \, d\mathbf{v} \, du, \tag{13}$$

while the *local quadratic density* is given by:

$$\varepsilon[f_i](t, \mathbf{x}) = \frac{e[f_i](t, \mathbf{x})}{\nu[f_i](t, \mathbf{x})} = \frac{1}{\nu[f_i](t, \mathbf{x})} \int_{D_{\mathbf{v}} \times D_u} u^2 f_i(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}, u) \, d\mathbf{v} \, du.$$
(14)

The mathematical structures derived in next sections and the applications reviewed in Sections 6 and 7 refers to particular representations. Among others: the physical meaning of $e[f_i]$ and $\varepsilon[f_i]$ stands for the energy and energy density expressed by the activity variable, the detailed meaning depends (as in the case of linear momenta) on the specific system under consideration. It is an important quantity as it can play a role in the strategy developed by the active particles. For instance, the strategy developed by the active particles may substantially change, when the energy passes a certain threshold.

- The microscopic state is identified only by the activity variable. Namely, space and velocity variables are not significant to describe the microscopic state of the active particles. In this case, the overall state of the system is described by the distribution function $f_i(t, u)$ over the activity variable only.
- The microscopic state is identified only by the space and activity variables. Namely, the velocity variable is not significant to describe the microscopic state, while it is important knowing the localization of the active particles, but not their velocity. Therefore, the representation is given by $f_i(t, \mathbf{x}, u)$.

The above two cases need to be distinguished from the spatially homogeneous description with constant probability density distribution over the velocity variable. The system is still described by the distribution function $f_i(t, u)$, but the velocity variable has a role in the modelling of the system.

Various systems in life sciences are characterized by the fact that the microscopic state is identified by a discrete variable rather that a continuous one. For instance, this situation occur in traffic flow modelling [60], where the low number of individuals (vehicles) weakens the assumption of the continuity of the distribution function. Let us consider a system of active particles organized in n interacting subsystems, where both space and velocity variables may be discrete due to modelling requirements.

Let us consider first the case of a velocity variable belonging to the set:

$$I_{\mathbf{v}} = \{\mathbf{v}_1, \dots, \mathbf{v}_r, \dots, \mathbf{v}_R\},\tag{15}$$

with components \mathbf{v}_r , r = 1, ..., R. The distribution function is defined as follows:

$$f_i(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}) = \sum_{r=1}^{R} f_i^r(t, \mathbf{x}) \,\delta(\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{v}_r),\tag{16}$$

where the space variable remains continuous, and $f_i^r(t, \mathbf{x}) = f_i(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}_r)$. Analogously, if also the space variable is discrete and belongs to the set:

$$I_{\mathbf{x}} = \{\mathbf{x}_1, \dots, \mathbf{x}_s, \dots, \mathbf{x}_s\},\tag{17}$$

with components \mathbf{x}_s , s = 1, ..., S, the distribution function is defined as follows:

$$f_i(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}) = \sum_{r=1}^R \sum_{s=1}^S f_i^{rs}(t) \delta(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}_s) \,\delta(\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{v}_r),\tag{18}$$

where $f_i^{sr}(t) = f_i(t, \mathbf{x}_s, \mathbf{v}_r)$.

Moments are obtained still according to the method we have seen above, simply replacing integration over the velocity variable by finite sums. Calculations are technical and are not repeated here.

3. Mathematical tools for homogeneous activity distribution

This section deals with the derivation of mathematical structures suitable to describe the evolution of large systems of interacting active particles belonging to different functional subsystems. The derivation is developed in the case of homogeneous (or constant) distribution over the activity variable, namely when the activity variable is the same for all particles. Interactions modify the mechanical variables, for instance position and velocity, while their activity is not modified. Still, the activity variable has a remarkable role on the dynamics of the interactions.

Let us first consider the case of one functional subsystem only, the generalization to several interaction subsystems is, as we shall see, immediate. Interactions, at the time *t*, refer to three types of particles:

- *Test* particles with microscopic state, at the time *t*, defined by the variable (\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}) , whose distribution function is $f = f(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v})$.
- *Field* particles with microscopic state, at the time t, defined by the variable $(\mathbf{x}^*, \mathbf{v}^*)$, whose distribution function is $f^* = f(t, \mathbf{x}^*, \mathbf{v}^*)$.
- *Candidate* particles with microscopic state, at the time t, defined by the variable $(\mathbf{x}_*, \mathbf{v}_*)$, whose distribution function is $f_* = f(t, \mathbf{x}_*, \mathbf{v}_*)$.



Fig. 1. The candidate particle C interacts with the field particles F, which are within its interaction domain Ω , and develops a strategy based of the states and localization of the particles F. Subsequently the particle modifies its microscopic state.

Two different types of interactions are considered: *conservative interactions*, when particles modify their microscopic state, and *non-conservative interactions*, when interactions generate proliferation or destruction of particles in their microscopic state.

The mathematical framework refers to the evolution in time and space of the test particle. The derivation for f is based on the following balance of equations in the elementary volume of the phase space:

$$\frac{df}{dt}d\mathbf{x}d\mathbf{v} = \left(G[f] - L[f] + S[f]\right)d\mathbf{x}d\mathbf{v},\tag{19}$$

where interactions of candidate and test particles refers to the field particles, and:

- G[f] denotes the *gain* of candidate particles into the state (**x**, **v**);
- L[f] models the *loss* of test particles with state (**x**, **v**);
- *S*[*f*] models *proliferation/destruction* of test particles.

Therefore, a basic aspect of the characterization of the above equation is the modelling of interactions among particles. The approach proposed in this section is a technical development of that proposed in paper [60] for the specific case of vehicular flow modelling. Bearing all above in mind, the modelling is developed on the basis of the following assumptions:

H.3.1. The candidate and/or test particles in $\mathbf{x} \in \Omega$, with velocity \mathbf{v}_* and \mathbf{v} , respectively, interact with the field particles in \mathbf{x}^* , with velocity \mathbf{v}^* located in its interaction domain Ω , $\mathbf{x}^* \in \Omega = \Omega(x)$ (see Fig. 1).

H.3.2. Interactions are weighted by a suitable term $\eta[\rho](t, \mathbf{x}^*)$, that can be interpreted as an *interaction rate*, which depends on the local density ρ in the position \mathbf{x}^* of the field particles.

H.3.3. The distance and topological distribution of the intensity of the interactions is weighted by a function $w = w(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}^*)$ such that:

$$\int_{\Omega} w(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}^*) \, d\mathbf{x}^* = 1. \tag{20}$$

H.3.4. The candidate particle f_* modifies its velocity \mathbf{v}_* according to the probability density denoted by $\mathscr{A}(\mathbf{v}_* \rightarrow \mathbf{v} | \mathbf{v}, \mathbf{v}^*)$, which represents the probability that a candidate particle, with velocity \mathbf{v}_* , reaches, in the same position, the velocity \mathbf{v} after an interaction with a field particle with velocity \mathbf{v}^* . The density satisfies the following property:

$$\int_{D_{\mathbf{v}}} \mathscr{A}(\mathbf{v}_* \to \mathbf{v} | \mathbf{v}_*, \mathbf{v}^*) \, d\mathbf{v} = 1, \quad \forall \mathbf{v}_*, \mathbf{v}^* \in D_{\mathbf{v}},$$
(21)

while the test particle looses its state v after interactions with field particles with velocity v^* . In general, \mathscr{A} is not consistent with conservation of momentum and energy. In fact the presence of an activity variable (although the same for all active particles) implies the onset of a behaviour, which modifies the classical conservation laws.

H.3.5. The candidate particle, in **x**, can proliferate, or be destroyed, with net birth/death rate $\mu(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}^*)$, due to encounters with field particles in \mathbf{x}^* .

The derivation of the mathematical framework is obtained by replacing the expression of the gain and loss terms into Eq. (18), where the total derivative of the distribution function has to be written using the transport with velocity \mathbf{v} . The result derived by Assumptions H.3.1–3.5 is, in absence of external field, as follows:

$$(\partial_t + \mathbf{v} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{x}}) f(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}) = (G[f] - L[F] + S[f])(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}),$$
(22)

where

$$G[f] = \int_{\Lambda} \eta[\rho](t, \mathbf{x}^*) w(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}^*) \mathscr{A}(\mathbf{v}_* \to \mathbf{v} | \mathbf{v}_*, \mathbf{v}^*) f(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}_*) f(t, \mathbf{x}^*, \mathbf{v}^*) d\mathbf{x}^* d\mathbf{v}_* d\mathbf{v}^*,$$
(23)

$$L[f] = f(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}) \int_{\Gamma} \eta[\rho](t, \mathbf{x}^*) w(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}^*) f(t, \mathbf{x}^*, \mathbf{v}^*) d\mathbf{x}^* d\mathbf{v}^*,$$
(24)

and

$$S[f] = f(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}) \int_{\Gamma} \eta[\rho](t, \mathbf{x}^*) w(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}^*) \mu(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}^*) f(t, \mathbf{x}^*, \mathbf{v}^*) d\mathbf{x}^* d\mathbf{v}^*,$$
(25)

where $\Lambda = \Omega \times D_{\mathbf{v}} \times D_{\mathbf{v}}$ and $\Gamma = \Omega \times D_{\mathbf{v}}$.

As we shall see, some models are such that the density \mathscr{A} is conditioned also by the distribution function of the field particle.

The generalization to a system of several interacting functional subsystems is immediate. It is simply necessary to include interactions of active particles for a large system of n functional subsystems labelled by the index i = 1, ..., n. Technical calculations yield:

$$(\partial_t + \mathbf{v} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{x}}) f_i(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}) = \sum_{j=1}^n \left(G_{ij}[\mathbf{f}] - L_{ij}[\mathbf{f}] + S_{ij}[\mathbf{f}] \right)(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}),$$
(26)

where

$$G_{ij}[\mathbf{f}] = \int_{\Lambda} \eta_{ij}[\rho_j](t, \mathbf{x}^*) w_{ij}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}^*) \mathscr{A}_{ij}(\mathbf{v}_* \to \mathbf{v} | \mathbf{v}_*, \mathbf{v}^*) f_i(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}_*) f_j(t, \mathbf{x}^*, \mathbf{v}^*) d\mathbf{x}^* d\mathbf{v}_* d\mathbf{v}^*,$$
(27)

$$L_{ij}[\mathbf{f}] = f_i(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}) \int_{\Gamma} \eta_{ij}[\rho_j](t, \mathbf{x}^*) w_{ij}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}^*) f_j(t, \mathbf{x}^*, \mathbf{v}^*) d\mathbf{x}^* d\mathbf{v}^*,$$
(28)

and

$$S_{ij}[\mathbf{f}] = f_i(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}) \int_{\Gamma} \eta_{ij}[\rho_j](t, \mathbf{x}^*) w_{ij}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}^*) \mu_{ij}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}^*) f_j(t, \mathbf{x}^*, \mathbf{v}^*) d\mathbf{x}^* d\mathbf{v}^*.$$
(29)

An interesting development refers to modelling the dynamics of particles, which move from a functional subsystem to another one, as sketched in Fig. 2 (these transitions can be induced both by conservative and proliferative events, see [21]). In this case the mathematical structure is developed as follows:

$$(\partial_t + \mathbf{v} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{x}}) f_i(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}) = \sum_{h=1}^n \sum_{k=1}^n \left(G_{hk}^i[\mathbf{f}] + S_{hk}^i[\mathbf{f}] \right)(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}) - \sum_{j=1}^n L_{ij}[\mathbf{f}](t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}),$$
(30)

where



Fig. 2. Transition with change of population. The candidate particle C of the *i* subsystem interacts with field particles modifies its microscopic state and shift into different functional subsystem.

$$G_{hk}^{i}[\mathbf{f}] = \int_{\Lambda} \eta_{hk}[\rho_{k}](t, \mathbf{x}^{*}) w_{hk}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}^{*}) \mathscr{A}_{hk}(\mathbf{v}_{*} \to \mathbf{v}, h \to i | \mathbf{v}_{*}, \mathbf{v}^{*}) f_{h}(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}_{*}) f_{k}(t, \mathbf{x}^{*}, \mathbf{v}^{*}) d\mathbf{x}^{*} d\mathbf{v}_{*} d\mathbf{v}^{*}, \qquad (31)$$

and

$$S_{hk}^{i}[\mathbf{f}] = f_{h}(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}) \int_{\Gamma} \eta_{hk}[\rho_{k}](t, \mathbf{x}^{*}) w_{hk}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}^{*}) \mu_{hk}^{i}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}^{*}) f_{k}(t, \mathbf{x}^{*}, \mathbf{v}^{*}) d\mathbf{x}^{*} d\mathbf{v}^{*},$$
(32)

where $\mathscr{A}_{hk}^{i}(\mathbf{v}_{*} \to \mathbf{v}, h \to i | \mathbf{v}_{*}, \mathbf{v}^{*})$ and $\mu_{hk}^{i}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}^{*})$ denote, respectively, the probability density of transition into the state (\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}) of the functional subsystem *i*, and the proliferation/destruction net birth/death rate into the functional subsystem *i*, due to the encounter with the particles belonging the functional subsystems *h* and *k*.

Bearing all above in mind, let us consider the representation analyzed in Section 2, where the velocity variable belongs to the set I_v defined in (15), with components \mathbf{v}_r , r = 1, ..., R, while the distribution function is defined in (16), and the space variable remains continuous. Let $f^r(t, x) = f(t, x, v_r)$ and \mathbf{f}_{I_v} be the vector whose components are $f^r(t, x)$, for r = 1, ..., R. In this case the probability density defined in (20) has to be replaced by a discrete density $\mathscr{A}_{pq}(v_p \to v_r) = \mathscr{A}_{pq}(p \to r)$ such that

$$\sum_{r=1}^{R} \mathscr{A}_{pq}(p \to r) = 1, \quad \forall p, q = 1, \dots, R,$$
(33)

where \mathscr{A}_{pq} denotes the probability density that a candidate particle with velocity \mathbf{v}_p modifies, in the same position, its state into \mathbf{v}_r after an interaction with a field particle with velocity \mathbf{v}_q . This density can be conditioned by the distribution function of the candidate particle.

Technical calculations, in absence of proliferative and/or destructive events, analogous to those we have seen above, yield:

$$(\partial_t + \mathbf{v}_r \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{x}}) f^r(t, \mathbf{x}) = \left(G^r[\mathbf{f}_{I_v}] - L^r[\mathbf{f}_{I_v}] \right)(t, \mathbf{x}), \tag{34}$$

where

$$G^{r}[\mathbf{f}_{I_{v}}] = \sum_{p=1}^{R} \sum_{q=1}^{R} \int_{\Omega} \eta[\rho](t, \mathbf{x}^{*}) w(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}^{*}) \mathscr{A}_{pq}(p \to r) f^{p}(t, \mathbf{x}) f^{q}(t, \mathbf{x}^{*}) d\mathbf{x}^{*},$$
(35)

and where

$$L^{r}[\mathbf{f}_{I_{v}}] = f^{r}(t, \mathbf{x}) \sum_{q=1}^{R} \int_{\Omega} \eta[\rho](t, \mathbf{x}^{*}) w(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}^{*}) f^{q}(t, \mathbf{x}^{*}) d\mathbf{x}^{*}.$$
(36)

Analogous reasonings and structures can be developed in the case of discrete space variables, which can be seen either as a discrete variable or as a method to identify functional subsystems.

The frameworks proposed in this section refer to a system, which does not interact with the outer environment. These actions are often necessary in modelling systems in life sciences. This topic is dealt with in the next section referring to heterogeneous systems and later focusing with specific applications.

4. Mathematical tools for heterogeneous activity systems

This section is focused on the modelling of systems of active particles when interactions modify both mechanical and activity variable. The guidelines to derive a mathematical framework are those followed in Section 3. Namely, the modelling of stochastic, topological games is developed and, subsequently, the evolution equation for the distribution function over the state of the particles is derived using a balance of particles in the elementary volume of the space of the microscopic states.

In principles, the above program is simply a technical development of the methods used in Section 3. However, rather than looking for a very general structure, it is useful, for modelling purposes [13], looking for suitable specializations. Therefore, let us focus on systems such that:

Conjecture 4.1. Interactions modify the activity variable according to the topological stochastic games introduced in Section 3, however independently on the distribution of the velocity variable, modification of the velocity of the interacting particles depends also on the activity variable.

The above conjecture is based on the idea that particles develop an individual strategy that depends on the activity expressed by the other particles, but not by the velocity distribution.

Let us now focus (in the case of one functional subsystem) on the interactions of a candidate or a test particle in **x** (with velocities \mathbf{v}_* , \mathbf{v} , and activity u_* , u, respectively) with the field particles in \mathbf{x}^* , with velocity \mathbf{v}^* and activity u^* located in its interaction domain Ω , namely $\mathbf{x}^* \in \Omega$. We assume, as in Section 3, that interactions are weighted by the term $\eta[\rho](t, \mathbf{x}^*)$ interpreted as an *interaction rate*, while the distance and topological distribution of the intensity of the interactions is weighted by the function $w = w(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}^*)$. In details, the following assumption characterizes these interactions:

H.4.1. The candidate particle modifies its state according to the probability density \mathscr{A} , which has the following factorization:

$$\mathscr{A}(\mathbf{v}_* \to \mathbf{v}, u_* \to u | \mathbf{v}_*, \mathbf{v}^*, u_*, u^*) = \mathscr{B}(u_* \to u | u_*, u^*) \mathscr{C}(\mathbf{v}_* \to \mathbf{v} | \mathbf{v}_*, \mathbf{v}^*, u_*, u^*),$$
(37)

where \mathscr{A} denotes the probability density that a candidate particles with state (\mathbf{v}_*, u_*) reaches the state (\mathbf{v}, u) after an interaction with the field particles with state (\mathbf{v}^*, u^*) , while the test particle looses its state \mathbf{v} and u after interactions with field particles with velocity \mathbf{v}^* and activity u^* .

The quantities defined in Assumption H.4.1 are probability densities, therefore the following properties hold true:

$$\int_{D_{\mathbf{v}} \times D_{u}} \mathscr{A}(\mathbf{v}_{*} \to \mathbf{v}, u_{*} \to u | \mathbf{v}_{*}, \mathbf{v}^{*}, u_{*}, u^{*}) \, d\mathbf{v} \, du = 1, \quad \forall \mathbf{v}_{*}, \mathbf{v}^{*} \in D_{\mathbf{v}}, \; \forall u_{*}, u^{*} \in D_{u}, \tag{38}$$

while after the factorization (36):

$$\int_{D_u} \mathscr{B}(u_* \to u | u_*, u^*) \, du = 1, \quad \forall u_*, u^* \in D_u,$$
(39)

and

$$\int_{D_{\mathbf{v}}} \mathscr{C}(\mathbf{v}_* \to \mathbf{v} | \mathbf{v}_*, \mathbf{v}^*, u_*, u^*) \, d\mathbf{v} = 1, \quad \forall \mathbf{v}_*, \mathbf{v}^* \in D_{\mathbf{v}}, \; \forall u_*, u^* \in D_u.$$

$$\tag{40}$$

Equating, analogously to the approach of the preceding section, the total variation of f in the elementary volume of the space of the microscopic states yields:

$$(\partial_t + \mathbf{v} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{x}}) f(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}, u) = (G[f] - L[f] + S[f])(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}, u),$$
(41)

where

$$G[f] = \int_{\Lambda \times D_{u} \times D_{u}} \eta[\rho](t, \mathbf{x}^{*}) w(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}^{*}) \mathscr{B}(u_{*} \to u | u_{*}, u^{*}) \mathscr{C}(\mathbf{v}_{*} \to \mathbf{v} | \mathbf{v}_{*}, \mathbf{v}^{*}, u_{*}, u^{*})$$

$$\times f(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}_{*}, u_{*}) f(t, \mathbf{x}^{*}, \mathbf{v}^{*}, u^{*}) d\mathbf{x}^{*} d\mathbf{v}_{*} d\mathbf{v}^{*} du_{*} du^{*}, \qquad (42)$$

$$L[f] = f(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}, u) \int_{\Gamma \times D_u} \eta[\rho](t, \mathbf{x}^*) w(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}^*) f(t, \mathbf{x}^*, \mathbf{v}^*, u^*) d\mathbf{x}^* d\mathbf{v}^* du^*,$$
(43)

and

$$S[f] = f(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}, u) \int_{\Gamma \times D_u} \eta[\rho](t, \mathbf{x}^*) \mu(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}^*, u_*, u^*) w(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}^*) f(t, \mathbf{x}^*, \mathbf{v}^*, u^*) d\mathbf{v}^* du^* d\mathbf{x}^*.$$
(44)

Of course, if Conjecture 4.1 is not applied, one has simply to suppress the factorization and leave the more general expression of \mathscr{A} instead of the product of \mathscr{B} and \mathscr{C} . The conjecture can be simply used for modelling purposes. As already mentioned these densities can, in some specific cases, be conditioned by the distribution function of the field particles.

The generalization to the case of several interacting subsystems, as well as to systems with discrete velocities, is technical. One has to consider interactions with all functional subsystems, in the first case, and with all discrete velocities, in the second case, precisely as we have seen in Section 3. Detailed calculations are reported only in the general case, which includes transition from one functional subsystem to an other. The corresponding mathematical structure, with meaning of notations analogous to that we have seen in Section 3, is as follows:

$$(\partial_t + \mathbf{v} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{x}}) f_i(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}, u) = J_i[\mathbf{f}] = \sum_{h=1}^n \sum_{k=1}^n \left(G_{hk}^i[\mathbf{f}] + S_{hk}^i[\mathbf{f}] \right)(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}, u) - \sum_{j=1}^n L_{ij}[\mathbf{f}](t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}, u),$$
(45)

where

$$G_{hk}^{i}[\mathbf{f}] = \int_{\Lambda \times D_{u} \times D_{u}} \eta_{hk}[\rho_{k}](t, \mathbf{x}^{*}) w_{hk}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}^{*}) \mathscr{B}_{hk}(u_{*} \to u, h \to i | u_{*}, u^{*})$$

$$\times \mathscr{C}_{hk}(\mathbf{v}_{*} \to \mathbf{v} | \mathbf{v}_{*}, \mathbf{v}^{*}, u_{*}, u^{*}) f_{h}(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}_{*}, u_{*}) f_{k}(t, \mathbf{x}^{*}, \mathbf{v}^{*}, u^{*}) d\mathbf{x}^{*} d\mathbf{v}_{*} d\mathbf{v}^{*} du_{*} du^{*}, \qquad (46)$$

$$S_{hk}^{i}[\mathbf{f}] = \int_{\Gamma \times D_{u} \times D_{u}} \eta_{hk}[\rho_{k}](t, \mathbf{x}^{*}) w_{hk}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}^{*}) \mu_{hk}^{i}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}^{*}, u_{*}, u^{*}) f_{h}(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}, u_{*})$$

$$\times f_{k}(t, \mathbf{x}^{*}, \mathbf{v}^{*}, u^{*}) d\mathbf{x}^{*} d\mathbf{v}^{*} du_{*} du^{*}, \qquad (47)$$

and

$$L_{ij}[\mathbf{f}] = f_i(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}, u) \int_{\Gamma \times D_u} \eta_{ij}[\rho_j](t, \mathbf{x}^*) w_{ij}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}^*) f_j(t, \mathbf{x}^*, \mathbf{v}^*, u^*) d\mathbf{x}^* d\mathbf{v}^* du^*.$$
(48)

Specific models, for instance the modelling of immune competition in multicellular systems [30], motivate to study the particular cases in which active particles have a velocity distribution that is constant in time and that is not modified by interactions. Moreover the distribution of particles is uniform in space. In this case, the only interactions that play a role are those involving the activity variable. Therefore, performing the integration with respect to the velocity variable in Eqs. (40)–(43) yields:

$$\partial_t f(t, u) = \eta_0 \int_{D_u \times D_u} \mathscr{B}(u_* \to u | u_*, u^*) f(t, u_*) f(t, u^*) du_* du^* - \eta_0 f(t, u) \int_{D_u} [1 - \mu(u, u^*)] f(t, u^*) du^*.$$
(49)

156

Focusing on the more general case of Eqs. (44)-(47), the following structure is obtained:

$$\partial_{t} f_{i}(t, u) = \sum_{h=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \int_{D_{u} \times D_{u}} \eta_{hk}[\rho_{k}] \mathscr{B}_{hk}(u_{*} \to u, h \to i | u_{*}, u^{*}) f_{h}(t, u_{*}) f_{k}(t, u^{*}) du_{*} du^{*} \\ + \sum_{h=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \int_{D_{u} \times D_{u}} \eta_{hk}[\rho_{k}] \mu_{hk}^{i}(u_{*}, u^{*}; u) f_{h}(t, u_{*}) f_{k}(t, u^{*}) du_{*} du^{*} \\ - f_{i}(t, u) \sum_{k=1}^{n} \int_{D_{u}} \eta_{ik}[\rho_{k}] f_{k}(t, u^{*}) du^{*}.$$
(50)

The case (44) can be generalized to models with discrete velocities, calculations are not repeated. On the other hand, it is useful showing that the same calculations can be developed also for the discretization of the activity variable as follows: $I_u = \{u_1, \ldots, u_r, \ldots, u_R\}$. Technical calculations, for a one functional subsystem only and supposing that the transition probability density depends on the distribution function, yield:

$$\partial_t f^r(t) = J[\mathbf{f}_{I_u}] = \eta_0 \sum_{p=1}^R \sum_{q=1}^R \mathscr{B}_{pq}(p \to r) f^p(t) f^q(t) - \eta_0 f^r(t) \sum_{q=1}^R f^q(t),$$
(51)

where \mathbf{f}_{I_u} denotes the vector of all distribution functions $f^r(t) = f(t, u = u_r)$ corresponding to the discrete value u_r and $\mathcal{B}_{pq}(p \to r)$ denotes the probability density that a candidate particle with state u_p modifies its state into u_r after an interaction with a field particle with state u_q . This term $\mathcal{B}_{pq}(p \to r)$ is such that:

$$\sum_{r=1}^{R} \mathscr{B}_{pq}(p \to r) = 1, \quad \forall p, q = 1, \dots, R.$$
(52)

It is worth observing that some models are such that the dependent variables \mathbf{x} and \mathbf{v} have not a real physical meaning in the sense of mechanical sciences. This aspect induces further technical modifications of the mathematical structure. For instance, the modelling of the term η may include dependence on the state of the interacting active particles.

The above modelling approach, used in the case of closed system, can be generalized to open systems where interactions with the outer environment occur. The mathematical framework reported in the following refers to [17] and is limited to the case of absence of actions on the mechanical variables, and population transition only in the case of proliferation. Further generalizations, such as those of the applications in Section 6, are technical.

The modelling approach takes into account the action of external agents, which may act, for each functional subsystem, either at the macroscopic scale on the variable u, or at the microscopic scale on the distribution function f_i . *Macroscopic actions* are identified by the term $K_i = K_i(t, \mathbf{x}, u)$ supposed to be a known function of its arguments. The action K_i acts over the variable u for each functional subsystem. The resulting equation, for i = 1, ..., n, is as follows:

$$(\partial_t + \mathbf{v} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{x}}) f_i(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}, u) + \partial_u \left(K_i(t, \mathbf{x}, u) f_i(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}, u) \right) = J_i[\mathbf{f}],$$
(53)

where $J_i[\mathbf{f}]$ is defined as in (45).

Modelling *external actions at the microscopic scale* means representing functional subsystems of the outer system by the distribution functions:

$$g_r(t, \mathbf{x}, u^e), \quad r = 1, \dots, n, \ u^e \in D_u \tag{54}$$

given as known functions of space and the variable u^e modelling the activity of the outer functional subsystem. The domain of u^e has been assumed to coincide with that of u.

The action of the outer system generates a dynamics analogous to that of the inner system, namely the modification of the activity variable for each functional subsystem, transition from one subsystem to the other, and proliferative/destructive events. Therefore, referring to [17] for details, the following mathematical structure is derived:

 $(\partial_t + \mathbf{v} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{x}}) f_i(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}, u) = J_i[\mathbf{f}](t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}, u) + Q_i[\mathbf{f}, \mathbf{g}](t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}, u),$ (55)

where $J_i[\mathbf{f}]$ is defined as in (45) and the operator Q_i corresponds to interactions to the action of the outer system corresponding to the distribution functions g_r . Particular expressions are given in Section 6.

5. Some reasoning on the modelling approach

The mathematical tools derived in Sections 3 and 4 can be used, and further developed, to model complex systems in life sciences. Before dealing with specific applications, it is worth analyzing the main guidelines to be followed towards this target. A concise introduction to the applications of the next sections is given here to indicate their specific complexity features, that have to be taken into account in the modelling approach. Let us consider, among several ones, the following topics:

- (i) Decomposition into functional subsystems;
- (ii) Complexity and modelling of interactions focused on mutations and interactions along networks;
- (iii) Selection of the appropriate mathematical structure for modelling;
- (iv) Specific objectives of the modelling approach.

These issues are dealt with focusing on the applications treated in the next sections, which have been selected also on the basis of their peculiar physical differences.

The mathematical tools we are talking about can be used to deal with a great variety of complex systems, however, in some specific cases, they can be further developed for a deeper understanding of the system under consideration.

Bearing all above in mind, let us consider the problem of the *decomposition into functional subsystems*. As we have seen, the first step towards the treatment of complexity consists in decomposing the overall system into functional subsystems. This strategy allows to reduce the number of variables that characterize the system itself. In some cases, this number is so large that it is difficult, say impossible, to deal with the modelling approach. The decomposition allows to reduce the number of variables to the essential ones, which are specifically related to the objective of the modelling strategy. However, this simplification of physical reality is successful only when it is able to select the variables, which have an effective role in the dynamics that is object of investigation. For instance, the role of the space variable is essential in some specific cases, while in other cases, the space variable can be used to identify the functional subsystem rather than having the classical role in mechanics, namely position of the active particle.

The subsequent step of the modelling approach is the selection of the appropriate mathematical structures among the various ones we have seen in the preceding sections. This matter requires a deep analysis on the complexity of the system attempting to provide an answer to the following questions:

- Is the activity variable heterogeneously distributed and do interactions modify this distribution?
- Do space and velocity variables play a role in the dynamics of the system?
- Does the space distribution of interacting entities affect the strategy developed by them and, hence, the output of the interaction?
- Can rapid mutations of the system modify the ability of interacting entities to express their strategy and, in some cases, generate mutations from one functional subsystem to the other?

An answer to the above queries can be given referring to specific systems and, in particular, to those dealt with in the next sections. For instance, the modelling of opinion formation in homogeneous media, analyzed in the next section (Section 6.1), does not need the space and velocity variables considering that communications through fast media essentially reduce the role of space. On the other hand, if the communication is developed through networks, the space variable plays an important role, while the modelling approach needs further development of mathematical tools.

Still remaining at the example of opinion formation, the space can be viewed as the *localization* of groups of individuals, which are characterized by different ways of receiving and forwarding messages finalized to modify opinions. In this case, the space variable is used to identify different functional subsystems, where the activity variable is the same for all of them, however interactions rules among active particles differ from system to system. Interactions

may occur homogeneously in space, but also along networks identified by different localizations. The modelling needs to take into account different interaction rules related to the topological distribution of the network.

A further aspect to be taken into account is that the modelling rules may change in time for various reasons. For instance, interacting particles can shift from one functional subsystem to an other due to their natural evolution, or the interaction rules may change due according to the overall state of the system. Therefore, the selection of the appropriate mathematical framework has to be specifically referred to the characteristics of the system. This is the case of the application dealt with in Section 6.1, where functional subsystems are identified by group of individuals affected by a virus, which mutates. These mutations can generate shift from one population to the other. Different interaction rules correspond to mutations of the virus.

Sections 3 and 4 presented a variety of mathematical frameworks, which can be subsequently selected with direct reference to each specific system. For instance, if the heterogeneity phenomena for the activity variables are negligible, the tools of Section 3 are sufficient, otherwise methods of Section 4 have to be considered. In general, living systems are characterized by an heterogeneous distribution of the activity variable. However, an homogeneous distribution activity is often assumed as a simplification of physical reality as in the classical modelling approach of vehicular traffic [25].

An additional aspect of the modelling approach is the selection of the use of continuous or discrete variables and the need of considering, or not, mutations. Subsequently, the modelling approach can be focused on the so-called *tables of interaction rules* and *tables of games*, which are specific of the particular system under consideration. These rules can, in some cases, be modified by environmental conditions, for instance, as we shall see in Section 7, when moving from normal to panic conditions in crowds and swarms modelling.

Let us now finally reason on what one can expect from a mathematical model of a complex system. Generally, mathematical models of the inert matter are requested to reproduce both qualitatively and quantitatively empirical data. Moreover, a successful model should reproduce different empirical situations. Far more challenging are the requirements referred to complex living systems, where models are required to reproduce, at least at a qualitative level, emerging collective behaviours, which cannot be directly related to the dynamics of a few entities. Therefore, mathematical models should show emerging behaviours and analyze how these behaviours depend on the parameters of the model as well as on the data that characterize the statement of mathematical problems generated by the application of the model to real physical conditions.

The following sections attempt to enlighten the above considerations focusing on specific applications. Their presentation follows the same guidelines for all of them. Specifically, a brief phenomenological description of the physical system that is object of modelling is followed by the selection of the mathematical structure to be used towards modelling. Subsequently, a survey of the existing literature is referred to these mathematical frameworks, while a critical analysis focused on further developments concludes each section.

It is worth stressing that the contents of the next sections does not naively claim to give an answer to all above queries. The existing literature only provides some preliminary answers, while the aim of this paper also consists at looking at new research developments. Perspective ideas are given in the last section.

6. Modelling complex systems in space homogeneity

This section is devoted to applications where KTAP methods can be developed to model complex systems in life sciences, which are characterized by the following common properties:

- (i) The activity variable is heterogeneously distributed over the interacting active particles.
- (ii) Active particles can shift from one functional subsystem to the other.
- (iii) The velocity and space variables have not a relevant physical meaning in the assessment of the microscopic state.
- (iv) Active particles are subject to an external action, which modifies their activity.

Two specific classes of systems are reviewed in the following subsections. The first one concerns social dynamics and opinion formations, while the second one refers to the onset and developments of epidemics with virus mutations. The review is proposed using a common style of presentation: a survey of the existing literature, the assessment of the mathematical structures, a description of specific models, followed by a brief comment on the results of the simulations. The first class of models is based on a structure with discrete activity variable, while continuous variables are used for the second class of models. The mathematical structures, that act as paradigms for the derivation of models, may need minor modifications with respect to those proposed in Sections 3 and 4.

6.1. On the complexity of social systems and opinion formation

KTAP methods have been applied to model social and/or economical systems where the individual behaviour can possibly have a remarkable role in the overall dynamics of the system. This endeavour has been defined by several scientists as *behavioural economy*, and refers to social systems in a broad sense. Some analogies can be identified with the dynamics of opinion formation, and more in general, with psychological interactions.

Several attempts to combine social sciences and mathematical modelling can be found in the literature. The main branches are agent-based models [10] and social networks [66,68], and [111]. *Agent-based models* are computational models in which interactions among individual (agents) are modelled to understand the emerging behaviour of the macroscopic overall system starting from the microscopic dynamics of each agent. These models have been used to describe a great variety of phenomena of recent times, like the growth of Internet, the arise and diffusion of terrorism, the formation of traffic jams, the onset of financial crisis, the spread of epidemics and social segregation. Notice that all the phenomena listed above are strongly affected by individual or particles interaction and behaviour. The study of *social networks* [71] is receiving growing attention, focusing on their role in determining and constraining social and economical behaviour.

A systematic approach to applications to social dynamics and opinion formation by KTAP methods has been introduced by Bertotti and Delitala [31–34]. Further developments and applications to behavioural economy are given by papers [3] and [4], where the concept of *functional subsystem* has been proposed to identify group of interest, which collectively express the same purpose, or strategic objective, modelled by the activity variable.

This decomposition allows to subdivide a large system into various interacting subsystems identified by the activity they express. Consequently, the overall complexity is reduced, but new mathematical difficulties arise due to the multiscale aspects; in fact, interactions among subsystems, which occur at a larger scale, have to be added to the interactions among the active particles [4]. This feature is analogous to what happens in biology, where the functions expressed by cells are determined by the dynamics at the molecular scale. Therefore, interactions among cells refer to functions expressed by the dynamics at a lower scale (genes, proteins, etc.). This two scale interactions also occur in social, political, and economical systems, as critically analyzed in the last section of this paper.

Bearing all above in mind, let us now introduce the mathematical structures developed in [31] and [34], which allow us to introduce some models both of social dynamics and opinion formations. In this context, the activity variable can attain a finite number of values $I_u = \{u_1, \ldots, u_r, \ldots, u_R\}$, where $u_i \in [0, 1]$ refers to the opinion or the social state of the individuals. *R* represents the finite number of activity states. The functional subsystem is constituted by individuals; interactions modify only the state of the individuals, but do not generate proliferative and/or destructive events.

Let $\mathbf{f} = \{f^r(t)\}\$ and $\mathbf{g} = \{g^r(t)\}\$ represent the discrete probability densities that model, for r = 1, ..., R, respectively, the probability distribution over the activity state and the effect of an external action. $g^r(t) = g(t, u_r)$ is the (known in time) normalized distribution of the external agents, sustaining the *r*th activity state, and satisfies the following condition:

$$\sum_{r=1}^{R} g_r(t) = 1, \quad \forall t \ge 0.$$
(56)

The mathematical structure, that is used for the modelling, refers to Eqs. (51) and (55) as follows:

$$\partial_{t} f^{r}(t) = \sum_{p=1}^{R} \sum_{q=1}^{R} \eta^{pq} \mathscr{B}_{pq}(p \to r) f^{p}(t) f^{q}(t) - f^{r}(t) \sum_{q=1}^{R} \eta^{rq} f^{q}(t) + \sum_{p=1}^{R} \sum_{q=1}^{R} \varepsilon^{pq} \mathscr{C}_{pq}(p \to r) f^{p}(t) g^{q}(t) - f^{r}(t) \sum_{q=1}^{R} \varepsilon^{rq} g^{q}(t),$$
(57)

where the encounter rates η^{pq} and ε^{pq} are supposed to depend on the state of the interacting entities; $\mathscr{B}_{pq}(p \to r)$ has been defined in Section 4; the term $\mathscr{C}_{pq}(p \to r)$ denotes the probability density that a candidate particle with state u_p

modifies its state into u_r after an interaction with an external action, which acts as a field particle, with state w_q . Moreover, $\mathscr{C}_{pq}(p \to r)$, according to its property of probability density, satisfies the following condition:

$$\sum_{r=1}^{R} \mathscr{C}_{pq}(p \to r) = 1, \quad \forall p, q = 1, \dots, R.$$
(58)

The above mathematical structures have been used in the above cited papers [3,4,31–33], and [34]. Two specific models of social dynamics and opinion formations are selected among the above cited ones, and are briefly described in the following with the aim at showing the practical application of KTAP's methods to derive models in life sciences. The first one refers to closed systems, while the second one to open systems. In both cases, we consider one functional subsystem only. Interactions of several subsystems are dealt with in [3] and [4].

Let us introduce the *social dynamics model* proposed in [32], which concerns a society in which individuals, distinguished by their social state (wealth), described by u, undergo competitive and/or cooperative interactions in absence of external actions. The wealth is assessed by social classes whose number R is a parameter of the model. Interactions are modelled by the terms $\mathscr{B}_{pq}(p \to r)$, which define the so-called *table of the games*. The modelling is developed by taking into account the following behaviours:

- The output of interactions, for *individuals with sufficiently close social states*, is such that individuals with the higher social position improve their state, while those in the lower position decrease their state (competitive behavior);
- The output of interactions, for *individuals with not sufficiently close social states*, is such that individuals with the lower social state improve their state, while those in the higher state decrease it (altruistic or cooperative behaviour);
- The parameter *m*, attaining any integer value between 0 and R 1, models the critical distance, referred to *R*, between social classes, and separates the competitive from the altruistic behaviour;
- The global wealth $Q = \sum_i u_i f_i$ is preserved.

The detailed expression of the various terms of the table is given in [32]. The qualitative analysis and simulations of the initial value problem aim at showing the role of the parameters and of the initial conditions on the asymptotic behaviour of the solutions, with special attention to the existence and stability of equilibrium configurations.

The mathematical problem is well-posed, namely the solution is proved to exist unique and positive. The dependence of the asymptotic (in time) scenarios on the initial wealth of the system has been studied focusing on special values of the parameters R and m. The qualitative analysis has been limited to "low-dimensional" cases, namely R = 5 and m = 2. In this case, it has been proved that asymptotically stable equilibrium solutions exist for each value of the initial available wealth Q_0 . However, a systematic computational analysis confirms the results obtained by the qualitative analysis for the above particular case also for general choice of the parameters. Simulations show the following:

- A unique equilibrium configuration exists for fixed value of the initial wealth Q_0 , which is preserved along the evolution; such an equilibrium configuration with each component different from zero (internal equilibrium) is asymptotically stable for general initial condition. The shape of equilibrium configuration depends on Q_0 .
- Large values of Q_0 , greater than the critical value $Q_0 = 0.5$, correspond to a trend of the population to a distribution with a number of wealthy individuals larger than the number of poor individuals. The opposite trend is described for small values of Q_0 , lower than the critical value $Q_0 = 0.5$.
- The trend for values of Q_0 greater than the critical value $Q_0 = 0.5$ is contrasted by large values of the parameter m, while it is increased for small values of the parameter m. The trend that appears for small values of Q_0 , lower than the critical value $Q_0 = 0.5$, is increased by large values of the parameter m, while it is contrasted for small values of values of the parameter m.

These results are in agreement with the evidence that *the dynamics of a society also depends on the global available wealth*, namely the asymptotic behaviour of a rich country may substantially differ from the one of a poor country,

although the social organization that controls the distribution of the wealth is the same. In other words, the same social organization cannot be applied to both poor and rich countries otherwise it ends up with enlarging social distances.

Let us now consider the model, proposed in [33], which describes the *evolution of opinion distribution within a population* in the presence of external actions (called leaders or persuaders). The number of opinions is identified by the parameter R, while the activity variable u is the opinion of the individuals, and the interactions lead to modifications of opinion. Interactions are modelled by the terms $\mathscr{B}_{pq}(p \to r)$ and $\mathscr{C}_{pq}(p \to r)$, namely the *table of the games*. Their modelling takes into account the following opposite behaviours:

- Compromise-like processes: If two individuals have opinions initially sufficiently close, the opinion of the two
 involved individuals may become closer and closer due to interactions;
- Boredom-like processes: A portion of individuals tends to adopt a new opinion (close to the original one) when meeting other individuals who think, about a specific topic, the same way as they do.

The detailed expression of the various terms of the table is given in [33]. Qualitative analysis and simulations aim at showing the role of the external actions on the asymptotic behaviour of the solutions, focused on existence, shape, and stability of equilibrium configurations. A brief summary of results given below refers to papers [33,34], and [35]. Specifically, the qualitative of the initial value problem is developed by methods analogous to those we have seen above for the model of social dynamics and leads to similar results. Namely, the mathematical problem is well posed for general initial data, while for low number of opinions, namely R = 3, it has been proved the existence of a unique equilibrium configuration, which is asymptotically stable in the case of persuaders with action constant in time [33]. Moreover, the existence of a globally attractive periodic solution has been proved in [34] for the case of periodic-in-time actions of the persuaders. Clustering of opinions has been analyzed in [35] for special choice of parameters. Simulations confirm the results given by the approach proposed in [55], motivated and supported by the empirical data of opinion formation. Specifically, starting from a generic distribution of opinions over the individuals in a group, empirical data show that, depending on the topology of the interactions and on the "open-mindness" of the individuals, the consensus emerges on one single opinion, or, if the individuals are more "closed-minded", on more different opinions.

6.2. On the modelling of epidemics with virus mutations

The mathematical literature on epidemics has been developed by several authors using either ordinary differential equations or partial differential equations with internal structure. The research activity is documented in various books [62,98,106,112], as well as in the review paper [49], and therein cited bibliography.

KTAP mathematical methods can be used to model the heterogeneous distribution of the intensity of epidemics with virus mutations and competition with the immune and specific therapies. The application follows the guidelines offered by the pioneer paper [59], subsequently developed in [57].

The modelling refers to a large system constituted by several interacting individuals: they initially are in a healthy state, then become carriers of a virus, which in turn progressively evolves toward more aggressive states and eventually mutates into new forms. Interactions between individuals may cause infections and the transition of the individuals from one pathological state to another.

The system may be decomposed into *n* populations of interacting individuals, labelled by the subscript *i* (*i* = 1,...,*n*) and regarded as functional subsystems. The following populations are considered: *i* = 1, which denotes healthy individuals whose microscopic state models the susceptibility to contract the pathological state; *i* = 2, which denotes individuals healthy carriers of the virus, whose microscopic state models the infectivity of the virus; *i* = 3,...,*n* that denote the individuals affected by the virus at the first and subsequent stages, whose microscopic state models the progression of both the infectivity and the pathological state.

The overall state for each population is described by the distribution function f_i over the microscopic state normalized with respect to the number N_{01} of individuals belonging to the population i = 1 at the time t = 0. The therapeutical actions on the individuals of different populations are described by the distribution functions $\mathbf{g}(t, u^e) = \{g_i(t, u^e)\}$ with i = 1, ..., n, over the microscopic state related to the level of the pathology: g_i is normalized, as well as f_i , with respect to the number N_{01} . A simplified assumption is the following: $g_i(t, u^e) = \zeta_i(t)\varphi_i(u^e)$ where $\varphi_i = \varphi_i(u^e)$ models the intrinsic properties of the therapy acting on the individuals of the *i*th population, and $\zeta_i(t)$ is the intensity of the application over time. The factorization indicates the different effects due to the time length and to the typology of the therapeutical treatment. Moreover, the distribution function $g_i(t, u^e)$ is defined over the same domain as $f_i(t, u)$.

The therapeutical action has different effects according to the specific population of the individuals which undergo the treatment. In general, it induces a regression of the pathological state, which could possibly result, for individuals belonging to the populations $i \ge 3$, in a transition to a different population, characterized by a lower intensity of the pathology. The corresponding mathematical structure is similar to (50) where the interaction rate between individuals does not depend on the densities but on the populations of the interacting individuals. In addition, as in (55), the presence of the external actions is included. Specifically, it writes:

$$\partial_{t} f_{i}(t, u) = \sum_{h=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{+} \times \mathbb{R}^{+}} \eta_{hk} \mathscr{B}_{hk}(u_{*} \to u, h \to i | u_{*}, u^{*}) f_{h}(t, u_{*}) f_{k}(t, u^{*}) du_{*} du^{*} - f_{i}(t, u) \sum_{k=1}^{n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{+}} \eta_{ik} f_{k}(t, u^{*}) du^{*} + \sum_{h=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \zeta_{k}(t) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{+} \times \mathbb{R}^{+}} \mu_{hk}(u_{*}, u^{e*}) \mathscr{C}_{hk}(u_{*} \to u, h \to i | u_{*}, u^{e*}) f_{h}(t, u_{*}) \varphi_{k}(u^{e*}) du_{*} du^{e*} - f_{i}(t, u) \sum_{k=1}^{n} \zeta_{k}(t) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{+}} \mu_{ik}(u, u^{e*}) \varphi_{k}(u^{e*}) du^{e*}.$$
(59)

A specific model with 4 populations has been proposed in [57] to model the progression of the virus toward more aggressive states, corresponding to:

- n = 1: normal (healthy) individuals,
- -n = 2: individuals carrier of the pathology,
- -n = 3, n = 4: individuals with the first and second stage of mutations of the virus.

The modelling of the external actions is simply referred to the action of the immune system. Specifically, all distribution functions $g_i(t, u^e)$ are assumed to be characterized by a constant intensity and by an exponential decay with respect to the activity u^e .

The table of the games has been modelled assuming that:

- The probability of infection increases when the intensity of the pathological state and virus mutations increase, and correspondingly the action of the immune system decreases.
- Individuals in a certain population can shift to an higher one, due to evolution of the virus.

A detailed description of the above assumptions are given in [57], where the interested reader is addressed for a deeper insight into this topic.

Simulations are obtained by solving the initial value problem for Eq. (59), which is "well posed", as documented in [57]. Various interesting phenomena are reproduced by the dynamics described by the model: in particular, the empirical evidence, see for instance [62], of the emergence in time of individuals carriers of virus at the most aggressive stage, and eventually carriers of new more aggressive pathology related to the virus mutations. This phenomenon may be related to a Darwinian type evolution, which leads to the selection of the most fitting (aggressive) type of virus. The immune system plays an active role in contrasting the virus and selecting the most fitting one.

In details, simulations have been developed in the following cases:

(i) Absence of the action of the immune system: The model describes the progressive evolution of the epidemics towards higher pathological cases. The heterogeneity of distribution of the progression of viruses over the population is well depicted in [57]. Moreover, the mutation into a new type of virus is highlighted with graphs showing the increase of individuals affected by virus at different mutation stages.

- (ii) Presence of the action of the immune system, still not yet sufficient to deplete the pathology: The action of the immune system is able to contrast partially the progression, and, therefore, the onset of the progressing state is only partially reduced. Simulations show that the immune system is able to contrast the less aggressive components of the virus, but is not able to contrast the virus in the individuals affected by the virus at the more aggressive stages.
- (iii) Presence of the action of the immune system sufficient to deplete completely the pathology: The different action of the immune system is obtained by increasing the values of the parameters that characterize the defense ability of the immune system.

It is worth stressing that in this model the defense of the immune system is applied by two specific actions: the intensity of the action and the ability to identify the progression state of the virus. On the other hand, the progression state of the virus evolves in time while the identification ability decays with increasing progression. Therefore, it follows that the action of the immune system, if not sufficient after a suitable short time, may become not any longer effective.

6.3. Critical analysis

The two classes of models reviewed in the preceding section identify suitable examples of complex systems, where the KTAP methods can be applied to model systems where space and velocity do not play a relevant role in the identification of the microscopic state of the active particles. Further developments of the modelling approach require additional analysis focused on the role of the space variable, whose discretization can be used to identify geographical regions related to functional subsystems. Generally, regions are linked in networks, and this aspect should be taken into account to model interactions among individuals.

The case of evolution of epidemics appears to be technically different considering that interactions among individuals are possible only within regions, while migrations can occur from one region to the other with space diffusion of the epidemics. Therefore, research activity can be focused on further developments of the model reviewed in Section 6.2 to include this type of dynamics. The generalization can possibly include birth and death events that occur in most biological systems.

According to the above reasonings, it can be stressed that the mathematical structures reported in Sections 3 and 4 may offer a useful reference framework. However, applications generally need, as we have seen, further technical developments to capture the specificity of each system under consideration.

7. Modelling complex system in space heterogeneity

This section deals with a review of models, derived using KTAP's methods, of complex systems where active particles are heterogeneously distributed in space. More in details, models refer to vehicular traffic, pedestrian crowds, and swarms.

Methods of the generalized kinetic theory have been applied to model vehicular traffic since the pioneer book by Prigogine and Hermann [100], who arguably were the first ones to introduce the use of a mathematical approach to model systems of non-classical particles. Subsequently, various developments have been produced by applied mathematicians and physicists as documented in the review papers [22,74,87]. A modelling approach specifically based on the mathematical structures proposed in Section 4 has been proposed in [60], and subsequently developed by various authors as we shall see in Section 7.1. The objective of the modelling consists in reproducing quantitatively empirical data and depicting behaviours that are observed at a qualitative level such as bottleneck, jumps formation and emerging cluster of vehicles. Moreover, a model should include parameters, possibly in a limited number, that can be technically identified.

Mathematical modelling of pedestrian crowd has been mainly developed at the microscopic scale [75,76], and at the macroscopic scale [23,80,84,108]. Methods of the kinetic theory of active particles can be properly developed to model crowd dynamics following the guidelines offered by this paper as we shall see in Section 7.2. However, this research line is still at an early stage.

Modelling the dynamics of swarms represents a challenging research objective for applied mathematicians. It is still a perspective considering that at the moment the literature in the field is limited to various reasonings that are

still preliminary to a detailed modelling approach. Section 7.3 reports about this topics. Therefore, the contents of this section gradually move from a review of the existing literature to challenging perspectives. The special issue [18] provides additional bibliographical citations on crowd and flock modelling.

7.1. On the modelling of vehicular traffic

Motivations to use KTAP's methods to model vehicular traffic are offered by the criticisms raised in Daganzo's paper [54], where the heterogeneous distribution of the quality of the driver-vehicle subsystem is stressed in contrast with the existing literature, where this aspect is substantially ignored. Moreover, paper [54] also criticizes the assumption of continuity of the distribution function over the microscopic state of vehicles considering that the number of interacting entities is not large enough to justify this assumption.

The second criticism is taken into account in [51] and [60], where the granular nature of traffic is modelled by kinetic type models with discrete velocities. Therefore, the overall state of the system is described by a discrete probability distributions over groups of vehicles with velocity within a certain velocity range. Specifically, it is observed that vehicles travelling along a road do not span with continuity the whole set of admissible velocities; rather, they tend to move in clusters, which can be identified and distinguished from each other by a discrete set of velocity values. The discretization creates cells in the velocity space for vehicles whose velocity belongs to these cells.

The first step of the modelling approach consists in the assessment of the mathematical representation. Referring to paper [60], the modelling is developed taking into account the following assumptions:

- The traffic flow is along a road in which only the longitudinal motion is explicitly accounted (lateral displacement are not physically considered).
- The individual state of vehicles is delivered by dimensionless quantities, namely position $x \in [0, 1]$, referred to the length of the vehicle, and velocity $v \in [0, 1]$, referred to the maximal velocity V_{ℓ} that can be reached by an isolated vehicle.
- As in (15), the velocity variable is discretized into the set: $I_v = \{v_1 = 0, \dots, v_r, \dots, v_R = 1\}$.
- The overall state of the system is delivered by the discrete distribution function $f^r = f(t, x, v_r), r = 1, ..., R$, that naturally implies that the number of vehicles with a velocity larger than V_ℓ can be neglected. The function weighting the interactions over the visibility zone on front of the driver is indicated as $\omega(x, x^*)$.
- Interactions are binary, but non-localized: an interaction length is introduced, which defines a visibility zone for each vehicle. The final outcome on the speed of the candidate vehicle is then determined by a weighted average of the interactions with all of the field vehicles in its visibility zone.
- The flux of vehicles depends on the road conditions.

Under the above assumptions, a finite number of velocity classes is identified, and the distribution function f can be written as a linear combination of R Dirac functions

$$f(t, x, v) = \sum_{r=1}^{R} f^r(t, x)\delta(v - v_i).$$

Accordingly, macroscopic quantities are obtained by weighted sums. For instance, mass density and flow are given by:

$$\rho(t,x) = \sum_{r=1}^{R} f^{r}(t,x),$$
(60)

and

$$q(t,x) = \sum_{r=1}^{R} v_r f^r(t,x) = \rho(t,x)\xi(t,x),$$
(61)

where ξ is the mean velocity. Analogous calculations can be performed for second order quantities such as energy and velocity variance.

The mathematical structure used for the modelling is a technical particularization of the ones we have seen in Section 4, Eqs. (33), (34) and (35). Specifically:

$$\partial_{t} f^{r}(t,x) + v_{r} \partial_{x} f^{r}(t,x) = J[\mathbf{f}_{I_{v}}](t,x)$$

$$= \sum_{p=1}^{R} \sum_{q=1}^{R} \int_{\Omega} \eta[\rho](t,x^{*}) w(x,x^{*}) \mathscr{A}_{pq}(p \to r)[\rho](t,x^{*}) f^{p}(t,x) f^{q}(t,x^{*}) dx^{*}$$

$$- f^{r}(t,x) \sum_{q=1}^{R} \int_{\Omega} \eta[\rho](t,x^{*}) f^{q}(t,x^{*}) dx^{*}, \qquad (62)$$

where \mathbf{f}_{I_v} denotes the vector of all $f(t, x, v_r)$, $\eta[\rho]$ defines the rate of interaction between vehicles, and $\mathscr{A}_{pq}(p \rightarrow r)[\rho]$ defines the so-called *table of games*, which models the microscopic interactions among the vehicles by giving the probability that a vehicle with speed v_p adjusts its velocity to v_r after an interaction with a vehicle travelling at speed v_q . The table of games \mathscr{A} is modelled by assuming that the interactions among the vehicles are affected by the macroscopic conditions of traffic through the local density ρ . Moreover, \mathscr{A} satisfies the additional requirements:

$$\mathscr{A}_{pq}(p \to r)[\rho](t, x^*) \ge 0, \qquad \sum_{r=1}^{R} \mathscr{A}_{pq}(p \to r)[\rho](t, x^*) = 1, \quad \forall p, q \in \{1, \dots, R\},$$
(63)

and for all $\rho \in [0, 1]$.

The model considered in [60] is obtained following the four key points:

- The rate η of the interactions among the vehicles is inversely proportional to the mean free space locally found along the road estimated via the quantity 1ρ (recalling $\rho = 1$ represents the road capacity) with $\rho \in [0, 1)$.
- The weight function is uniform in the visibility zone of the driver.
- A phenomenological parameter $\alpha \in [0, 1]$ is incorporated in the table of the games, whose lower and higher values are related to bad and good road conditions respectively.
- The table of games is derived assuming that low vehicles are attracted by fast vehicles, while fast vehicles are obliged to slow down when interacting with slow ones if they are unable to pass by. Moreover, the probability of modifying the velocity (both acceleration and deceleration) linearly increases with the quality of the road, and decreases with the density; it reaches the maximal value for $\alpha = 1$ and $\rho = 0$.

The qualitative analysis developed in the spatially homogeneous case in [60] shows the well-posedness of the initial value mathematical problem of the model. Moreover, it is proved the existence of at least one equilibrium point in a suitable positively invariant set. The uniqueness of a stable equilibrium point is proved only for particular cases corresponding to low number of velocities (R = 3).

Simulations in the spatially homogeneous case confirm and generalize the results of the qualitative analysis. Moreover, they show that the model quantitatively depicts, in steady uniform conditions, the empirical data critically analyzed by Kerner [85] as they are represented in the velocity diagram, namely mean velocity versus density at equilibrium. The result, precisely as in [85], shows that the velocity keeps it maximal value until ρ reaches a critical value ρ_c , subsequently it shows a rapid localized decrease followed by a smooth decay to zero when ρ tends to one.

Simulations in the spatially non-homogeneous case have shown a variety of emerging behaviours that are empirically observed. In details, several phenomena are highlighted:

- *Formation of a queue* due to the accumulation of incoming vehicles behind a pre-existing group of motionless vehicles. Starting with an initial condition where all distribution functions are set to zero except the one corresponding to the first velocity, which is assumed constant, simulations show the expected enlargement of the plateau due to a backward propagation of the queue toward the inflow boundary, with a nearly constant maximum value of the density located in the rear part of the group of vehicles. The opposite phenomenon is also shown with a slow down-flowing of the vehicles from the right boundary, with a progressive emptying of the queue.
- Bottleneck and the effect on the traffic of a variation in the maximum density allowed along the road. This situation may arise as a consequence of a reduction in the number of lanes available to the vehicles, or more in general

because of a narrowing of the roadway, and is usually referred to as a bottleneck. As in the previous problem, formation and backward propagation of a queue are observed.

• *Cluster merging* when overtaking is forbidden. This may be due, for instance, to very bad road conditions or to some sort of special limitations imposed on the traffic, and it can be formally obtained by setting $\alpha = 0$ in the table of games. The result is that vehicles simply tend to maintain their current speed, until they reach other slower vehicles when they are forced to slow down to the velocity of the leaders and to queue, no matter how much free space is actually available on the road. Simulations in this case show also the formation of *stop-and-go waves* in the rear cluster as a reaction to the velocity transitions occurring immediately after the encounter with the front one. These waves, that finally smooth out as the velocity within the rear cluster becomes uniform, are reproduced thanks to the dislocation of the interactions, which forces the leading vehicles of the rear cluster to realize first the need for slowing down while approaching the front cluster.

It is worth stressing that the above model is characterized by one parameter only, corresponding to the quality of the road-environment outer system. Moreover, simulations show that, in homogeneous situations, increasing values of α correspond to increasing values of ρ_c . The above relation between α and ρ_c suggested the practical identification of α by direct measurement of ρ_c , see [38].

The above modelling approach has been further developed in some recent papers. For instance, Bonzani and Gramani in [37] analyze multilane flows, where each lane represent a different functional subsystem, and confirm the predictive ability of emerging behaviours delivered by the model. Moreover, Gramani [72] analyzes the role of the activity variable, in the simplest assumption of constant probability distribution over such a variable, and confirms the empirical observations by Kerner [86]. Specifically, it is shown that the velocity diagram and the speed variance versus density for a constant distribution of the activity variable are as those depicted by model [60] and that the largest values of fluctuations are localized corresponding to transition from free to congested flow.

The analysis of [72] is limited to the case of constant, with respect to time, probability distribution of the activity variable. The distribution is only modified by interactions among vehicles and depends on local density conditions. This perspective idea can be applied to the discrete velocity model of paper [72] where the distribution function includes the activity variable, namely:

$$f(t, x, v, u) = \sum_{r=1}^{R} \delta(v - v_r) f^r(t, x, u),$$
(64)

by considering, as in Eq. (37) of Section 4, the transition probability density \mathscr{A} to be given by the product of the density corresponding to variation of velocity \mathscr{C} and that corresponding to variation of activity \mathscr{B} . The former is modelled as in [72], where a measure of the quality is given by the product of α per u, while the latter corresponds to a mixing dynamics on the activity. A possible modelling choice for the mixing dynamics is such that the behaviour of the driver-vehicle micro-system tends to a common value with increasing density; specifically, when the density increases the behavioural differences decrease, while in jam conditions all vehicles show the same behaviour.

The main issue to be remarked is that this perspective idea of modelling the heterogeneous behaviour of the drivervehicle micro-system is necessary to explain emerging behaviours that are empirically observed.

7.2. Some reasonings about crowds modelling

Modelling of crowd dynamics, similarly to the approach used for vehicular traffic, can be developed at the three representation scales corresponding to individual dynamics (microscopic), locally averaged (macroscopic) quantities, and statistical distribution over the microscopic state (statistical scale).

The literature in the field is almost limited to the approach at the microscopic scale as documented by the activity developed by Helbing and coworkers, among various papers [75,76]. The approach at the macroscopic scale has been settled by Hughes [84], and subsequently developed by various authors [23,24,50,77,78], by means of classical methods of continuum mechanics based on the use of mass and momentum conservation equations properly closed by phenomenological models modelling the relation of the acceleration term, or mean velocity, to local flow conditions. Recently, paper [99] has considered discrete-time modelling by means of a family of measures, which provide an estimate of the space occupancy by pedestrians in time.



Fig. 3. Geometry of the crowd domain.

The interest in this type of modelling is not purely speculative, for instance the papers by Venuti et al. [108–110], are focused on the modelling of the interactions between crowds and lively footbridges and related structural analysis. Moreover, Helbing studies the panic conditions and evacuation problems [77], while detailed calculations of pilgrim's Jamarat bridge, where overcrowding is the cause of frequent accidents, have been developed by Coscia and Canavesio in [50], and by Helbing and coworkers [79].

This section aims at showing how the mathematical structures proposed in the preceding sections can be used to model crowd dynamics in bounded domains whose geometry is represented in Fig. 3. Only a few guidelines are given in the following to be properly developed within an appropriate research project.

Let us consider a distribution function of the type $f = f(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v})$ where the activity is assumed to be constant i.e. assuming that individuals behave in the same way, and the space variable is dimensionless being divided by the characteristic length ℓ of the domain Σ , while the velocity is divided by the maximal velocity V_{ℓ} that can be reached by an isolated individual.

The mathematical structure to be used for modelling is as follows:

$$\partial_{t}f(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}) + \mathbf{v} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{x}}f(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}) = J[f](t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v})$$

$$= \int_{\Lambda} \eta[\rho](t, \mathbf{x}^{*})w(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}^{*})\mathscr{A}(\mathbf{v}_{*} \to \mathbf{v}|\mathbf{v}_{*}, \mathbf{v}^{*})[\rho]f(t, \mathbf{x}_{*}, \mathbf{v}_{*})f(t, \mathbf{x}^{*}, \mathbf{v}^{*}) d\mathbf{v}_{*} d\mathbf{v}^{*} d\mathbf{x}^{*}$$

$$- f(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}) \int_{\Gamma} \eta[\rho](t, \mathbf{x}^{*})w(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}^{*})f(t, \mathbf{x}^{*}, \mathbf{v}^{*}) d\mathbf{v}^{*} d\mathbf{x}^{*}, \qquad (65)$$

where all quantities appearing in this equation have been defined in Section 3 and the transition density function \mathscr{A} is assumed to depend on the local density.

A necessary preliminary observation is that a crowd generally has a target, therefore some geometrical notations are necessary to identify it. Let us consider a crowd moving in a two-dimensional domain Σ with boundary $\partial \Sigma$. The geometry is represented in Fig. 3, which shows an outlet zone corresponding to evacuation, for instance a point Tof the boundary corresponding to the exit. The geometry can be further modified by inserting internal obstacles and an inlet zone. Therefore, given a target point $T = (x_T, y_T)$ inside Σ , the pedestrian direction is identified by the unit vector from P = (x, y) to the target T:

$$\mathbf{v}_0(x, y) = \frac{x - x_T}{\sqrt{(x - x_T)^2 + (y - y_T)^2}} \mathbf{i} + \frac{y - y_T}{\sqrt{(x - x_T)^2 + (y - y_T)^2}} \mathbf{j},\tag{66}$$

where i and j are two unit orthogonal vectors in a two-dimensional domain.

The modelling problem consists in the characterization of the terms η , w, \mathscr{A} , while the mathematical problem needs, in addition to the initial condition, also the statement of boundary conditions, unless the modelling refers to crowds in unbounded domains. Some reasonings are here briefly proposed focusing on the differences between traffic and crowd modelling. Moreover, the implications of the onset of panic conditions are considered.

 The modelling of the interaction rates can be developed similarly to the case of vehicular traffic, namely by increasing the interaction rate with increasing local density.

- The assumption that the weight w decays with the distance is not a general rule. Indeed, different contexts (e.g. a match at a stadium, the pilgrims location, the escape from fire, etc.) lead to different pedestrian behaviour; for instance clustering phenomena do not always follow the same rules as attraction, and repulsion depends on the specific strategies expressed by the individuals composing the crowd.
- Panic conditions modify the dynamics of interactions in various ways, for instance by increasing quantitatively the interaction rate and by disregarding the target in favor of clustering.
- The statement of boundary conditions must be carefully developed, taking into account the active particles leaving $\partial \Sigma$ and those moving to $\partial \Sigma$. This topic is dealt with in [58] by suitable development of methods of the classical kinetic theory.

The above essential indications have to be regarded, as already mentioned, as preliminary hints to develop a specific research program.

7.3. Can mathematics deal with the modelling of the beautiful shapes of swarms?

Modelling of swarms is an attractive research perspective, which is motivated not only by the difficulty of this objective, but also by the observation of the beauty of the shapes formed by birds, which appear in the sky during spring and autumn periods. Analogous phenomena are, however, observed in various living systems such as fishes, which try to escape the attack of a predator; or cells, which aggregate forming particular, smooth or irregular, shapes, see [40,82]. The mathematical literature in the field does not yet offer sufficiently formalized results able to lead to predictions delivered by solutions of mathematical equations. Therefore, this subsection reports only some perspective ideas that can be hopefully transferred into a mathematical approach.

Preliminarily, it is worth indicating some specific features of the dynamics of swarms including a critical analysis of various technical difficulties that have to be tackled in dealing with the modelling of swarms:

- (i) Interactions between active particles of a swarm are in three space coordinates, while those of particles of a crowds are defined in two space coordinates.
- (ii) The domain occupied by the swarm evolves in time; the map from the initial configuration Σ_0 to the configuration at time *t*, Σ_t has to be computed by the solution of a free boundary conditions, where the initial condition included the initial shape of the domain Σ_0 .
- (iii) Generally, swarms refer to animal behaviours, which differ from population to population and that can be modified by external actions that can induce panic. Namely, a swarm in normal conditions has a well defined objective, for instance reaching a certain zone starting from a localization. However, panic conditions can modify the overall strategy to pursue this objective, which is consequently modified.
- (iv) In all cases, a swarm has the ability to express a common strategy, which is a non-linear elaboration of all individual contributions, generated by each individuals based on the microscopic state of all other individuals.
- (v) The dynamics of interactions differs in the various zones of the swarm. For instance, from the border to the center of Σ . Stochastic behaviours are an essential characteristics of the dynamics.
- (vi) The above mentioned strategy includes a clustering ability (flocking) that prevents the fragmentation of Σ_t . Moreover, when a fragmentation of Σ_t occurs, the clustering ability induces an aggregation.
- (vii) The concept of swarm can be extended to various types of micro organisms and ultimately to cells in a multicellular system. In this case the strategy expressed by the interacting entities depends on the biological functions that characterize the population. Moreover, the modelling approach should include proliferative and/or destructive events.

The mathematical literature on swarm modelling is very limited with respect to that related to traffic and crowds. Moreover, although the scaling and representation is analogous, different modelling approaches have been proposed in the literature. Among others, stochastic differential equations [2], macroscopic equations derived from stochastic perturbation of individual dynamics [48,56], modelling swarming patterns [43,65,107], and flocking phenomena [63], [52] and [53].

Summarizing, the modelling approach should take into account that fluctuations are an intrinsic feature of the systems under consideration. Moreover, it is worth mentioning that recent studies [11] conjecture, on the basis of

empirical data, that some systems of animal world develop a common strategy based on interactions depending on topological rather than metric distances. This definitely is a valuable suggestion to be used towards modelling. In general a swarm has the ability to express a collective intelligence that is generated by a cooperative strategy [36,111]. The interested reader can find further details on the subject in [95] and [104].

A deep insight on emerging strategies needs to be specifically referred to the type of individuals composing the swarm [12,61]. Heterogeneity of individual behaviours plays an important role in the dynamics of swarms of cells in biology [21], where several complex events, such as proliferative/destructive events or mutations, may arise in short time intervals.

Stochastic behaviours of swarms suggest to modify the governing mathematical structure. A conceivable approach, worth to be properly investigated, is the following:

$$\partial_t f(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}) + \mathbf{v} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{x}} f(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}) = J[f](t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}) + \frac{1}{\tau} \mathscr{L}(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}),$$
(67)

where the term

$$\mathscr{L}[f] = \int_{D_{\mathbf{v}}} \left[T(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{v}_*; \mathbf{x}) f(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}_*) - T(\mathbf{v}_*, \mathbf{v}; \mathbf{x}) f(t, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{v}) \right] d\mathbf{v}_*,$$
(68)

models a linear velocity-jump process, where τ is the mean run time, hence ν is the turning rate or turning frequency, and $T(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{v}_*; \mathbf{x})$ is the probability kernel for the new velocity $\mathbf{v} \in D_{\mathbf{v}}$ assuming that the previous velocity was \mathbf{v}_* . This corresponds to the assumption that individuals choose any direction with bounded velocity. Specifically, the set of possible velocities is denoted by $D_{\mathbf{v}}$, where $D_{\mathbf{v}} \subset \mathbb{R}^3$, and it is assumed that $D_{\mathbf{v}}$ is bounded and spherically symmetric (i.e. $\mathbf{v} \in D_{\mathbf{v}} \Rightarrow -\mathbf{v} \in D_{\mathbf{v}}$). Such a kernel can be assumed to depend on the localization within Σ_t .

The above indications need to be regarded as a very preliminary step towards the development of models suitable to describe the complex dynamics of the system under consideration. Possibly, research project can be developed by using the kinetic theory methods reviewed in the preceding sections, where the modelling of the interaction terms should take into account the qualitative indications given above.

8. Looking forward

The contents of this paper have been proposed in two parts. The first part is focused on mathematical tools of the KTAP developed to model living systems. The second one has shown, by means of specific applications, how these tools can be applied to derive mathematical models for systems, where the dynamics of a few entities does not straightforwardly generate that of the whole system. Emerging collective behaviour does not appear to be related to the individual dynamics and not even to the dynamics of a few entities. Indeed the strategy developed by the interacting individuals depends on their density and topological distribution.

Although the KTAP methods appear to be appropriate to modelling a broad variety of systems belonging to different fields of life sciences, looking forward to further developments can take advantage of an additional critical analysis. Therefore, this final section attempts to give an answer to the following two specific questions which can be posed among others:

- (i) Are complex systems characterized by common features, and, if so, is it reasonable to ask oneself if it is possible to extract some common features for all of them? Consequently, do the mathematical structures reported in Sections 3 and 4 have the ability to set them into a mathematical framework?
- (ii) Considering that complex systems can be observed and represented at different scales, how can the KTAP methods deal with this multiscale issue?

The following two subsections deal with the above queries, while the third one provides some hints for future research.

8.1. Common features of complex systems focused on mathematical structures

Let us consider the identification of the common features that characterize complex living systems, and also focused on some specific applications, with the aim of showing how the KTAP theory can deal with them. The following issues have been selected:

- *Expression of strategic ability*: Living systems have the ability to express an individual strategy that modifies laws of classical mechanics and, in some cases, generates proliferative and/or destructive processes. As a consequence, the state of the interacting entities should include variables that are suitable to describe the strategy they express. This aspect is dealt with by introducing an *activity variable*, which modifies the dynamics at the microscopic level according to the strategy developed by interactions with other active particles.
- *Complexity induced by a large number of variables*: Most of the systems under consideration need the use of a large number of variables to define their overall state. This aspect specifically refers to the activity variable. Therefore, the number of equations needed by the modelling approach may be too large to be practically treated. The mathematical approach is such that the selection of the activity variable corresponds to the decomposition of the overall system into functional subsystems, whose elements collectively express a specific strategy.
- *Heterogeneity*: The expression of strategy is heterogeneously distributed. Consequently, the dynamics of the system is stochastic, namely the deterministic expression of a reductionistic approach should be replaced by a stochastic representation with random variables.

KTAP methods take into account this aspect within the framework of a conjecture of factorization of the probability density that models interactions into the densities that modify the activity variable and that modify the velocity. In several cases, heterogeneity is an important characteristic of complex systems. For instance, in vehicular traffic flow, it can explain the transition from free to congested flow by a remarkable increase of the velocity variance [85,86]. This aspect has been only considered in recent literature, while the traditional approach was based on the assumption of homogeneous activity variable.

• *Interactions*: Interactions modify the state of the active particles according to the strategy they express, on the basis of the space and state distribution of the other particles. The strategy can be modified by the shape of their distribution. Therefore, the output depends on the overall state of the interacting particles. Generally, elementary laws of classical mechanics are violated. Interactions can occur not only by contact, but also be distributed in space as well as within networks. In fact, living systems have the ability to communicate either directly or through the use of media.

The modelling approach is such that each active particle interacts with all the other particles that are in a suitable domain, which, in some cases, is identified by the visibility zone, while in other cases by a network where interactions occur. Active particles play a game at each interaction and the output is technically related to the ability they have to develop a certain strategy. Given a certain input, the output cannot, in general, be deterministically identified, namely the behaviour of particles is randomly distributed and the output of the interaction is random.

• *Distance and topology*: Interactions may not be homogeneous in space, considering that interacting entities can, in some cases, choose different observation paths. Moreover, the distance is not simply geometric, considering that interacting entities have the ability to identify localization at a great distance and may even privilege it with respect to localization at short distance.

The modelling takes into account the role of the topological distribution of the active particle, which plays a role when communication among entities selects specific paths and directions. An important consequence is that interactions do not involve pairs of entities, but a number of entities and their geometrical distribution.

• *Mutations and evolution*: An additional aspect that has to be considered is that, in some cases, the specific properties of living systems evolve in time. This evolution may even correspond to real mutations with substantial modification of the interaction rules related to mutated entities [1].

This is a delicate issue that has only been partially considered in the mathematical approach we have reviewed. In fact, mutations are taken into account by the probability that an active particle falls into a new population with mutated characteristics.

8.2. Multiscale aspects and interactions

Generally, complex systems are constituted by interacting components, which eventually correspond to functional subsystems distributed in space, and, in some cases, constrained by networks. Each component is constituted by several interacting active particles. Therefore, the modelling approach needs to describe the interactions that involve the various components, in addition to those of the particles of different functional subsystems. An additional technical difficulty is that the scale (microscopic or macroscopic) that is suitable to describe each component may not be the same for all of them. Bearing all this in mind, different types of interactions have to be considered:

- (i) Interactions between subsystems at the same scale, both of which have been modelled by the KTAP methods. This type of interaction has been considered, for instance, in immune competition e.g. [88,89].
- (ii) Interactions between subsystems at different relative scales, both of which have been modelled by the KTAP methods. An example is that of the modelling of the interactive dynamics of genes and cells in biology [20,21].
- (iii) Interactions between subsystems at different scales, one modelled by macroscopic equations and the other by KTAP methods. This aspect has been considered by Ajmone Marsan in the field of behavioural economy [5].

It should be observed that the concept of *microscopic scale* is independent on the size of the interacting entities, but it is related to the fact that each entity is modelled as a whole. Therefore, interactions of type (i) and (ii) occur at the microscopic scale, although the size of particles is different for interactions (ii). Dealing with this matter implies that the mathematical structures reported in this paper need to be further developed to take into account that one subsystem can act over another due to macroscopic variables as observed in different life sciences fields, see for instance [20] and [5]. It is essential to deal with this delicate problem in the case of (iii)-type interactions, see [44,45].

The above topics highlight a challenging research perspective, where the above cited literature represents only an introductory contributions that is still open to further developments. Dealing with these issues means taking into account the derivation of macroscopic equations from the underlying description at the microscopic level. Some literature on this topic has already been cited, among others [16,46,47,64,67,69]. However, the development of asymptotic methods, in some way analogous to those of the classical kinetic theory [97], need *ad hoc* assumptions that limit the full generality of the mathematical result. Applied mathematicians are engaged in the challenging task of developing methods, which are valid without such *a priori* assumptions.

8.3. Perspectives

Various research perspectives have already been indicated in this section as well as in preceding sections, focusing both on the derivation of mathematical structures and modelling topics. KTAP's methods can deal with several aspects of complex systems, however not all of them. For instance, the modelling approach to mutations is only at a preliminary stage, and further developments are still needed.

An additional characteristic of complex systems is their learning ability. This aspect could possibly be considered within the term \mathscr{B} assuming that the variation of activity, namely $u_* \rightarrow u$ corresponds to a learning process due to interactions with different active particles. This topic, which still has to be properly developed, introduces an interesting research perspective in the modelling of cognitive sciences, e.g. [39] and [101].

The most important perspective, according to the authors' bias, is related to the derivation of the terms \mathcal{A} , \mathcal{B} , \mathcal{C} , μ , and η , which can be modelled on the basis of a phenomenological analysis of the subsystem. A robust theory may be possibly be developed to obtain these quantities. This challenging target could be pursued after having specialized the specific system that is subject of the modelling. The approach of [21] suggests extracting, in the case of multicellular systems, the above quantities from the underlying description at the lower scale of genes.

The essential idea is that suitable moments of the variable at the low scale identify the activity variable at the high scale. Heterogeneity is induced by the different behaviour of the particles at the low scale. Hopefully, this approach can be generalized to broad variety complex systems. It can take advantage of research activities in the field of biological sciences, where the dynamics at the low scale is related to inheritance, mutations, and evolution [70,90,96], and [1]. Possibly, this approach can be generalized to a broader variety of complex systems.

References

- [1] Abel DL, Trevors JT. Self-organization vs. self-ordering events in life-origin models. Physics of Life Reviews 2006;3:221-8.
- [2] Albeverio S, Alt W. Stochastic dynamics of viscoelastic skeins: Condensation waves and continuum limit. Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences 2008;18:1149–92.
- [3] Ajmone Marsan G, Bellomo N, Egidi M. Towards a mathematical theory of complex socio-economical systems by functional subsystems representation. Kinetic and Related Models 2008;1:249–78.
- [4] Ajmone Marsan G. On the modelling and simulation of the competition for a secession under media influence by active particles methods and functional subsystems decomposition. Computer and Mathematics with Applications 2008;57:710–28.
- [5] Ajmone Marsan G. New paradigms towards the modelling of complex systems in behavioural economy. Mathematical and Computer Modelling 2009;50:584–97.
- [6] Arlotti L, Bellomo N, Latrach K. From the Jager and Segel model to kinetic population dynamics: Nonlinear evolution problems and applications. Mathematical Computer Modelling 1999;30:15–40.
- [7] Arlotti L, Bellomo N, De Angelis E. Generalized kinetic (Boltzmann) models: Mathematical structures and applications. Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences 2002;12:567–91.
- [8] Arthur WB. On designing economic agents that behave like human agents. J Evolutionary Economics 1993;3:1-22.
- [9] Auger P, Rravo de la Parra R, Poggiale JC, Sanchez E, Sanz L. Aggregation methods in dynamical systems in population and community dynamics. Physics of Life Reviews 2008;5:79–105.
- [10] Axelrod R. The complexity of cooperation: Agent based models of competition and collaboration. Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton University Press; 1997.
- [11] Ballerini M, Cabibbo N, Candelier R, Cavagna A, Cisbani E, Giardina I, et al. Interaction ruling animal collective behaviour depends on topological rather than metric distance: Evidence from a field study. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 2008;105:1232–7.
- [12] Bearon RN, Grünbaum KL. From individual behaviour to population models: A case study using swimming algae. J Theoretical Biology 2008;251:33–42.
- [13] Bellomo N. Modelling complex living systems a kinetic theory and stochastic game approach. Boston: Birkhäuser; 2008.
- [14] Bellomo N, Bellouquid A, Herrero MA. From microscopic to macroscopic description of multicellular systems and biological growing tissues. Computers and Mathematics with Applications 2007;53:647–63.
- [15] Bellomo N, Bellouquid A, Nieto J, Soler J. Multicellular growing systems: Hyperbolic limits towards macroscopic description. Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences 2007;17:1675–93.
- [16] Bellomo N, Bellouquid A. On the derivation of macroscopic tissue equations from hybrid models of the kinetic theory of multicellular growing systems – The effect of global equilibrium. Nonlinear Analysis Hybrid Systems 2009;3:215–24.
- [17] Bellomo N, Bellouquid A, Nieto J, Soler J. Complexity and mathematical tools towards the modelling of multicellular growing systems in biology. Kinetic and Related Models 2010;3, in press.
- [18] Bellomo N, Brezzi F. Traffic crowds and swarms. Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences 2008;18:1145-8.
- [19] Bellomo N, Carbonaro B. On the complexity of multiple interactions with additional reasoning about Kate, Jules and Jim. Mathematical and Computer Modelling 2008;47:160–71.
- [20] Bellomo N, Delitala M. On the coupling of higher and lower scales by the mathematical kinetic theory of active particles. Applied Mathematical Letters 2008;22:646–50.
- [21] Bellomo N, Delitala M. From the mathematical kinetic, and stochastic game theory to modelling mutations, onset, progression and immune competition of cancer cells. Physics of Life Reviews 2008;5:183–206.
- [22] Bellomo N, Delitala M, Coscia V. On the mathematical theory of vehicular traffic flow and fluid dynamic and kinetic modelling. Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences 2002;12:1801–43.
- [23] Bellomo N, Dogbé C. On the modelling of crowd dynamics: From scaling to hyperbolic macroscopic models. Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences 2008;18:1317–46.
- [24] Bellomo N, Dogbé C. On the modelling of traffic and crowds a survey of models, speculations, and perspectives, preprint; 2008.
- [25] Bellomo N, Marasco A, Romano A. From the modelling of driver's behavior to hydrodynamic models and problems of traffic flow. Nonlinear Analysis RWA 2002;3:339–63.
- [26] Bellomo N, Forni G. Dynamics of tumor interaction with the host immune system. Mathematical Computer Modelling 1994;20:107-22.
- [27] Bellomo N, Forni G. Complex multicellular systems and immune competition: New paradigms looking for a mathematical theory. Current Topics in Developmental Biology 2008;81:485–502.
- [28] Bellomo N, Li NK, Maini PK. On the foundations of cancer modelling: Selected topics, speculations, and perspectives. Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences 2008;18:593–646.
- [29] Bellouquid A, Delitala M. Mathematical methods and tools of kinetic theory towards modelling complex biological systems. Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences 2005;15:1639–66.
- [30] Bellouquid A, Delitala M. Modelling complex biological systems a kinetic theory approach. Boston: Birkhäuser; 2006.
- [31] Bertotti ML, Delitala M. From discrete kinetic theory and stochastic game theory to modelling complex systems in applied sciences. Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences 2004;14:1061–84.
- [32] Bertotti ML, Delitala M. Conservation laws and asymptotic behavior of a model of social dynamics. Nonlinear Analysis RWA 2008;9:183– 96.
- [33] Bertotti ML, Delitala M. On a discrete generalized kinetic approach for modelling persuaders influence in opinion formation processes. Mathematical and Computer Modelling 2008;48:1107–21.

- [34] Bertotti ML, Delitala M. On the existence of limit cycles in opinion formation processes under time periodic influence of persuaders. Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences 2008;18:913–34.
- [35] Bertotti ML, Delitala M. Clusters formation in opinion dynamics: A qualitative analysis. ZAMP (Z Angew Math Phys), in press.
- [36] Bonabeau E, Dorigo M, Theraulaz G. Swarm intelligence: From natural to artificial systems. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1999.
- [37] Bonzani I, Gramani L. Modelling and simulations of multilane traffic flow by kinetic theory methods. Computers Mathematics with Applications 2008;56:2418–28.
- [38] Bonzani I, Mussone L. From the discrete kinetic theory of vehicular traffic flow to computing the velocity distribution at equilibrium. Mathematical and Computer Modelling 2009;49:610–6.
- [39] Brighton H, Smith K, Kirby S. Language as an evolutionary system. Physics of Life Reviews 2005;3:177-226.
- [40] Bru A, Herrero MA. From the physical laws of tumor growth to modelling cancer processes. Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences 2006;16:1199–218.
- [41] Bürger R, Garcia A, Kunik M. A generalized kinetic model of sedimentation of polydisperse suspensions with a continuous particle distribution. Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences 2008;18:1741–86.
- [42] Carbonaro B, Giordano C. A second step towards mathematical models in psychology: A stochastic description of human feelings. Mathematical and Computer Modelling 2005;41:587–614.
- [43] Carillo JA, D'Orsogna MR, Panferov V. Double milling in self-propelled swarms form kinetic theory. Kinetic and Related Models 2009;2:363–78.
- [44] Cattani C, Ciancio A. Hybrid two scales mathematical tools for active particles modeling complex systems with learning hiding dynamics. Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences 2007;17:171–88.
- [45] Cattani C, Ciancio A. Qualitative analysis of second-order models of tumor-immune system competition. Mathematical and Computer Modelling 2008;47:1339–55.
- [46] Chalub FA, Dolak-Struss Y, Markowich P, Oeltz D, Schmeiser C, Soref A. Model hierarchies for cell aggregation by chemotaxis. Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences 2006;16:1173–98.
- [47] Chalub FA, Markovich PA, Perthame B, Schmeiser C. Kinetic models for chemotaxis and their drift-diffusion limits. Monatshefe f
 ür Mathematik 2004;142:123–41.
- [48] Chjang Y, D'Orsogna M, Marthaler D, Bertozzi A, Chaves L. State transition and the continuum limit for 2D interacting, self-propelled particles system. Physica D 2007;232:33–47.
- [49] Chowell G, Nishiura H. Quantifying the transmission potential of pandemic influenza. Physics of Life Reviews 2008;5:50-77.
- [50] Coscia C, Canavesio C. First-order macroscopic modelling of human crowd dynamics. Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences 2008;18:1217–48.
- [51] Coscia V, Delitala M, Frasca P. On the mathematical theory of vehicular traffic flow models II. Discrete velocity kinetic models. International J Non-linear Mechanics 2007;42:411–21.
- [52] Cucker F, Dong J-G. On the critical exponent for flocks under hierarchical leadership. Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences 2009;19, doi:10.1142/S0218202509003851.
- [53] Cucker F, Smale S. Emergent behavior in flocks. IEEE Transactions in Automatic Control 2007;52:853-62.
- [54] Daganzo C. Requiem for second order fluid approximations of traffic flow. Transportation Research B 1995;29B:277-86.
- [55] Deffuant G, Neau D, Amblard F, Weisbuch G. Mixing beliefs among interacting agents. Advances in Complex Systems 2000;3:87–98.
- [56] Degond P, Motsch S. Continuum limit of self-driven particles with orientation interaction. Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences 2008;18:1193–216.
- [57] De Lillo S, Delitala M, Salvadori C. Modelling epidemics and virus mutations my methods of the mathematical kinetic theory for active particles. Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences 2009;19, <u>doi:10.1142/S0218202509003838</u>.
- [58] De Lillo S, Salvadori C, Bellomo N. Mathematical tools of the kinetic theory of active particles with some reasoning on the modelling progression and heterogeneity. Mathematical and Computer Modelling 2007;45:564–78.
- [59] Delitala M. Generalized kinetic theory approach to modeling spread and evolution of epidemics. Mathematical and Computer Modelling 2004;39:1061–84.
- [60] Delitala M, Tosin A. Mathematical modelling of vehicular traffic: A discrete kinetic theory approach. Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences 2007;17:901–32.
- [61] Detrain C, Doneubourg J-L. Self-organized structures in a superorganism: Do ants "behave" like molecules? Physics of Life 2006;3:162–87.
- [62] Dieckmann O, Heesterbeck JAP. Mathematical epidemiology of infectious diseases. New York: Wiley; 2000.
- [63] Dogbè C. Fluid dynamic limits for gas mixtures I. Formal derivations. Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences 2008;18:1633– 72.
- [64] Dolak Y, Schmeiser C. Kinetic models for chemotaxis: Hydrodynamic limits and spatio temporal mechanisms. J Mathematical Biology 2005;51:595–615.
- [65] D'Orsogna MR, Chuang YL, Bertozzi AL, Chayes L. Self-propelled particles with soft-core interactions: Pattern stability, and collapse. Physical Review Letter 2006;96:1043021–4.
- [66] Ehrhardt GCMA, Marsili M, Vega-Redondo F. Phenomenological models of socioeconomic network dynamics. Physical Review E 2006;74.
- [67] Erban R, Othmer HG. From individual to collective behaviour in chemotaxis. SIAM Journal of Applied Mathematics 2004;65:361–91.
- [68] Fagiolo G, Marengo L, Valente M. Population learning in a model with random payoff landscapes and endogeneous networks. Computational Economics 2004;24:383–408.
- [69] Filbet F, Laurençot P, Perthame B. Derivation of hyperbolic models for chemosensitive movement. Journal of Mathematical Biology 2005;50:189–207.
- [70] Frank SA. Dynamics of cancer: Inheritance, and evolution. Princeton University Press; 2007.

- [71] Ganguly N, Deutsch A, Mukherjee A. Dynamics on and of complex networks applications to biology, computer science, and the social sciences. Boston: Birkhäuser; 2009.
- [72] Gramani L. On the modeling of granular traffic flow by the kinetic theory for active particles. Trend to equilibrium and macroscopic behaviour. Int J Nonlinear Mechanics 2009;44:263–8.
- [73] Hartwell HL, Hopfield JJ, Leibner S, Murray AW. From molecular to modular cell biology. Nature 1999;402:c47-52.
- [74] Helbing D. Traffic and related self-driven many-particle systems. Review Modern Physics 2001;73:1067–141.
- [75] Helbing D. A mathematical model for the behavior of pedestrians. Behavioral Sciences 1991;36:298-310.
- [76] Helbing D, Molnár P. Social force model for pedestrian dynamics. Physical Review E 1995;51:4282–6.
- [77] Helbing D, Farkas I, Vicsek T. Simulating dynamical feature of escape panic. Nature 2000;407:487-90.
- [78] Helbing D. A fluid-dynamic model for the movement of pedestrians. Complex Systems 2002;6:391-415.
- [79] Helbing D, Johansson A, Al-Abideen HZ. Dynamics of crowd disasters: An empirical study. Physical Review E 2007;75:046109.
- [80] Henderson LF. On the fluid mechanic of human crowd motion. Transp Research 1975;8:509-15.
- [81] Herrero M. On the role of mathematics in biology. J Mathematical Biology 2007;54:887-9.
- [82] Herrero MA, Köhn A, Pérez-Pomares JM. Modelling vascular morphogenesis: Current view on blood vessels development. Mathematical Methods in Applied Sciences 2009;19.
- [83] Hogeweg P, Hesper P. The ontogeny of the interaction structure in bumble bee colonies. Behavioral Ecological Sociobiology 1983;12:271– 83.
- [84] Hughes RL. The flow of human crowds. Annual Reviews of Fluid Mechanics 2003;35:169-83.
- [85] Kerner B. The physics of traffic. Berlin, New York: Springer; 2004.
- [86] Kerner B. Phase transitions in traffic flow. In: Helbing D, Hermann H, Schreckenberg M, Wolf D, editors. Traffic and granular flow. Springer Verlag; 2000. p. 253–83.
- [87] Klar A, Küne RD, Wegener R. Mathematical models for vehicular traffic. Surveys Mathematical Industry 1996;6:215–39.
- [88] Kolev M. Mathematical modelling of the competition between tumors and immune system considering the role of antibodies. Mathematical and Computer Modelling 2003;37:1143–52.
- [89] Kolev M, Kozlowska E, Lachowicz M. Mathematical model of tumor invasion along linear or tubular structures. Mathematical Computer Modelling 2005;41:1083–96.
- [90] Komarova N. Stochastic modeling of loss- and gain-of-function mutation in cancer. Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences 2007;17:1647–74.
- [91] Jager E, Segel L. On the distribution of dominance in a population of interacting anonymous organisms. SIAM J Applied Mathematics 1992;52:1442–68.
- [92] Lo Schiavo M. The modelling of political dynamics by generalized kinetic (Boltzmann) models. Mathematical and Computer Modelling 2003;37:261–81.
- [93] Lo Schiavo M. A dynamical model of electoral competition. Mathematical and Computer Modelling 2006;43:1288–309.
- [94] May RM. Uses and abuses of mathematics in biology. Science 2004;303:790-3.
- [95] Mogilner A, Edelstein-Keshet L. A non-local model for a swarm. J Mathematical Biology 1999;38:534-70.
- [96] Nowak MA, Sigmund K. Evolutionary dynamics of biological games. Science 2004;303:793–9.
- [97] Perthame B. Mathematical tools for kinetic equations. Bulletin American Mathematical Society 2004;41:205-44.
- [98] Perthame B. Transport equations in biology. Basel: Birtkäuser; 2007.
- [99] Piccoli B, Tosin A. Pedestrian flows in bounded domains with obstacles. Contin Mech Thermodyn 2009;21:85–107.
- [100] Prigogine I, Herman R. Kinetic theory of vehicular traffic. New York: Elsevier; 1971.
- [101] Purwinsa H, Grachtena M, Herreraa P, Hazana A, Marxera R, Serraa X. Computational models of music perception and cognition II: Domain-specific music processing. Physics of Life Reviews 2008;3:169–82.
- [102] Reed R. Why is mathematical biology so hard? Notices of the American Mathematical Society 2004;51:338-42.
- [103] Schweitzer F. Brownian agents and active particles. Berlin: Springer; 2003.
- [104] Shaw E. The schooling of fishes. Scientific American 1962;206:128-38.
- [105] Talagrand M. Spin glasses, a challenge to mathematicians. Springer; 2003.
- [106] Thieme HR. Mathematics in population biology. Princeton: Princeton University Press; 2003.
- [107] Topaz CM, Bertozzi A. Swarming patterns in a two dimensional kinematic model for biological groups. SIAM J Applied Mathematics 2005;65:152–74.
- [108] Venuti F, Bruno L, Bellomo N. Crowd dynamics on a moving platform: Mathematical modelling and application to lively footbridges. Mathematical and Computer Modelling 2007;45:252–69.
- [109] Venuti F, Bruno L. The synchronous lateral excitation phenomenon: Modelling framework and an application. C R Mecanique 2007;335:739– 45.
- [110] Venuti F, Bruno L. An interpretative model of the pedestrian fundamental relation. C R Mecanique 2007;335:194-200.
- [111] Watts DJ, Strogatz SH. Collective dynamics of 'small real world' network. Nature 1998;393:173-86.
- [112] Webb GF. Theory of nonlinear age-dependent population dynamics. New York: Marcel Dekker; 1985.
- [113] Woese CR. A new biology for a new century. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews 2004;68:173-86.